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ASX APPENDIX 4E
Results for announcement to the market
Report for the full year ended 30 June 2018

$m

Revenues from ordinary activities

931.0

down

2.5%

1.1

down

99%

(55.8)

down

n/a

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT*)
Loss after tax from ordinary activities attributable to members

Dividend Information
Amount
per share
(cents)

Franked amount
per share
(cents)

Interim 2018 dividend (paid 15 March 2018)

9.4

9.4

Final 2018 dividend (to be paid 17 September 2018)

8.0

5.6

Important dates for shareholders
Ex-dividend date

31 August 2018

Record date

3 September 2018

Payment date

17 September 2018

The Company’s dividend reinvestment plan (DRP) will apply for the final dividend. The DRP will be offered
at no discount to market. The last date for receipt of an election notice to participate in the DRP is by
5.00pm (AEST) on 4 September 2018.

30 June 2018
Net tangible asset backing per ordinary security

(103.8 cents)

30 June 2017
(70.6 cents)

Additional Appendix 4E disclosure requirements can be found in the directors’ report and the 30 June 2018
financial statements and accompanying notes.
This report is based on the consolidated financial statements which have been audited.
This document comprises the information required by ASX Listing Rule 4.3A and is Navitas Limited’s preliminary
final report including its 2018 Full Year Financial Results.
All comparisons are with the reported results for the full year ended 30 June 2017.
Note* excludes share of Net Profit or (Loss) of entities accounted for using the equity method
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ASX ANNOUNCEMENT
7 August 2018

CAREERS AND INDUSTRY DIVISION RATIONALISATION IMPACTS FY18 RESULT
Navitas (ASX: NVT) reported an after tax loss of $55.3m for the 2018 financial year (FY18) with
the result significantly affected by $123.8m of one-off charges associated with the recently
announced plan to rationalise the business portfolio of the Careers and Industry Division. The
performance of the Group prior to these charges was in line with market expectations with pro
forma1 EBITDA of $144.0m.
“Despite a disappointing reported result, Navitas’ continuing operations performed well in FY18
reflecting the quality of our education businesses. We continued to deliver strong academic and
experience outcomes to students and partners while meeting the majority of our 2020 KPI
targets. We exceeded our enrolments target, renewed all key university partnership
agreements and expanded our portfolio of partners,” said Navitas Group Chief Executive
Officer, David Buckingham.
Operational Highlights
• Excellent student outcomes across all Divisions including University Partnerships pass
rates (84%), retention rates (90%) and progression rates (94%);
•

6% growth across FY18 in University Partnerships enrolments;

•

Deakin, Anglia Ruskin, Curtin and Brunel university partnership agreements renewed
and Swansea converted to a joint venture;

•

New college agreements signed with Virginia Commonwealth University and Murdoch
University in Dubai;

•

Portfolio review completed and rationalisation of the Careers and Industry Division
announced, including the planned sale of the SAE US business; and

•

Group CEO transition complete, new CFO in place and other key leadership roles
refreshed.

Financial Overview
• Group revenue of $931.0m in FY18 following enrolment growth in Australian, UK,
Canadian and European operations;
•

Reported Group EBITDA of $82.0m including C&I rationalisation charges - EBITDA of
$142.1m in FY18 for continuing operations with pro-forma 1 EBITDA of $144.0m;

•

EBITDA from University Partnerships growing again and no longer affected by closed
colleges;

•

One off after-tax charges totalling $123.8m, related to the Careers and Industry Division
rationalisation;

•

Net loss after tax of $55.3m predominantly related to the Careers and Industry Division
rationalisation; and

•

Final dividend of 8.0 cps partially franked at 70% taking the full year dividend to 17.4
cps (FY17: 19.5 cps fully franked) reflecting the after tax loss in FY18 and a payout
ratio of approximately 90% of normalised earnings per share and free cash flows.

Navitas Group Chief Executive Officer, David Buckingham, said:
“As a global education provider with strong partnerships and a track record of delivering quality
student outcomes, Navitas is well positioned to excel in an evolving education sector.”
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Pro-forma EBITDA includes share of EBITDA from joint ventures per table on page 3
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“However, we must maintain a disciplined approach to returns on invested capital and ensure
the long term viability and growth of our colleges and campuses. Our recently announced
decision to rationalise the Careers and Industry Division, including the potential sale of SAE US
operations will put the Division on a solid foundation to pursue future growth opportunities.We
will ensure all affected students will be supported to complete their programs or transition to
another suitable provider.”
EBITDA Segment Summary
Year ended 30 June ($m)

Statutory Financial Statements
2018
2017
vs pcp
FY18
margin

University Partnerships

132.1

131.2

1%

22.1%

Professional and English Programs (PEP)
SAE
Careers & Industry

18.4
27.2
45.6

31.1
29.9
61.0

(41%)
(9%)
(25%)

16.1%
13.4%
14.4%

(35.7)

(37.2)

(4%)

-

EBITDA before C&I rationalisation expenses

142.1

155.0

(47%)

15.3%

C&I rationalisation expenses1

(60.1)

-

-

-

EBITDA after C&I rationalisation expenses

82.0

155.0

(47%)

8.8%

Share of EBITDA from joint ventures

2.0

1.4

43%

-

84.0
(55.3)

156.4
80.9

(46%)
-

-

Corporate costs

Pro-forma2

EBITDA
Reported NPAT

Note 1- Includes $57.1m of expenses relating to onerous leases, provisions and asset impairments, principally for
the SAE US business and $3.0m of expenses relating to onerous leases and other provisions of the Health Skills
Australia business.
Note 2- Pro-forma EBITDA includes share of EBITDA from joint ventures.

University Partnerships Division
The Division has again delivered strong student outcomes, achieving both 2020 KPI’s targets
of 84% pass rates and 90% retention rates.
Enrolments grew by 6% over the year but average fee growth was offset marginally by a change
to lower priced courses. New agreements were signed with Virginia Commonwealth University
and with Murdoch University for a managed campus in Dubai. Five existing partner contracts
were successfully renewed in the year and the Swansea University partnership was converted
to a Joint Venture to expand its strategic opportunities.
University Partnership equivalent full time student units (EFTSU) for the second semester of
2018 increased by 6% on the pcp. This result includes enrolments from four joint venture
colleges with combined enrolments of ~1,150 EFTSU.
•
•
•

Australian and New Zealand EFTSU increased by 4% following ongoing demand and
a stable regulatory environment;
North American EFTSU increased by 13%, with strong growth in Canada being offset
partially by tighter immigration conditions in the US; and
UK EFTSU were flat on the prior period as the regulatory environment continues to be
restrictive.

Careers and Industry Division
In July 2018, Navitas announced the rationalisation of the Careers and Industry Division,
predominantly focused on consolidating and investigating the divestment of SAE US
operations, and the closure or divestment of Health Skills Australia. These operations have
been constrained by the relevant regulatory and funding regimes, significantly impacting their
return on capital. After considering all options to improve performance, the portfolio review
concluded that returns are likely to remain below acceptable levels in the current and
foreseeable regulatory environment, and closure or divestment should be pursued.
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The Division continued to achieve strong student experience survey results compared to the
wider higher education sector as well as high Net Promoter Scores. Continuing operations
reported a decline in revenue and EBITDA following reduced AMEP contract regions in the
period. The rate of decline was reduced somewhat by the final volumes of Syrian migrants
completing their programs.
One-off Charges
The decision to rationalise the portfolio resulted in the inclusion of one-off charges totaling
$123.8m in the FY18 results. These were outlined in the Company’s ASX announcement on
18 July 2018 and comprise.
• $84.5m of SAE and HSA one-off expenses;
• A $29.4 non-cash goodwill impairment charge; and
• A $9.9m non-cash write down in the carrying value of US deferred tax assets.
Related staff termination and merger costs of $5m were not charged in FY18 due to the timing
of the closure announcements and will be incurred in FY19.
FY19 Priorities
A major focus of FY19 will be the successful completion of the Careers and Industry Division
rationalisation and supporting the affected students and staff. This will include progressing
divestment opportunities, managing the ‘teach out’ of operations and improving the profitability
of the Division.
For University Partnerships the focus will remain on delivering high quality academic outcomes
and continued student growth. This will involve continuing to improve Navitas’ sales and
marketing performance, completing IT platform upgrades, developing new partners, delivering
new products and services and renewing all existing partner agreements.
Navitas remains committed to delivering its strategic 2020 KPI targets and delivering strong
returns to shareholders.
------ENDS------
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Operating and Financial Review
FY18 Highlights and Achievements
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Corporate Responsibility

5 Year Financial Summary
%
change
18/17

2018

2017

2016

2015

2014

$000s

$000s

$000s

$000s

$000s

Revenue

930,980

955,195

1,010,651

980,341

878,219

-2.5%

EBITDA

81,959

155,048

164,581

163,107

144,929

-47.1%

(55,847)

80,337

90,078

71,810

51,584

n/a

(15.6)

22.1

24

19.1

13.7

n/a

Interim dividend per Share (cents)

9.4

9.4

9.6

9.4

9.4

Final dividend per Share (cents)

8.0

10.1

9.9

10.1

10.1

EVA created

38,642

49,545

60,286

62,861

51,779

Operating cash flows

92,301

101,534

125,810

141,834

140,939

Total equity

28,807

155,738

209,799

206,667

211,709

Return on capital employed

15.3%

18.2%

21.6%

22.8%

19.9%

Profit/(Loss) attributable to members of Navitas
Basic earnings per Share (cents)
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Chairman and Group CEO Report
Dear Shareholder,
While the overall financial outcomes for the 2018 financial year (FY18) were disappointing, with the
financial statements showing an after-tax loss of $55.8m after taking account of a range of one-off charges
associated with a major rationalisation of our Careers and Industry Division. The University Partnerships
and the remaining Careers and Industry businesses remain strong and are positioned well for the future.
The rationalisation of the Careers and Industry Division was implemented following a detailed portfolio
review undertaken to address the lower-than-expected return on capital of the Division in the face of
challenging regulatory conditions.
The majority of this restructure will be in the US and will include investigating the divestment of all SAE
US colleges. After-tax one-off charges totaling $123.8m were included in the FY18 financial statements
as a result. A further $5m of restructuring costs will be incurred in FY19 relating to staff termination
payments and campus merger costs.
Navitas remains focused on delivering quality student outcomes and strong shareholder returns. Student
and academic outcomes have been pleasing throughout the period, and earnings and margin growth
excluding one-off charges associated with the rationalisation program have been in line with expectations.
These positive results have been achieved despite challenges in some markets.
At the end of FY18, Rod Jones, co-founder and inaugural CEO and Managing Director of Navitas retired
from his executive roles. We pay tribute to his tremendous vision and -leadership in building Navitas to
the company it is today, and to his enormous positive impact on the education sector in Australia and on
the lives of many hundreds of thousands of students who have benefited from expanded and improved
global education opportunities. The Navitas Board appointed Rod as a Non-Executive Director, effective
July 1 2018. He will be taking a well-deserved leave of absence until the December board meeting. We
look forward to his continued contribution to Navitas and to the education sector more broadly.
Quality outcomes continue to be the core focus
Academic outcomes across Navitas’ divisions and regions continued to improve including pass and
retention rates in the University Partnerships Division, and Australian Quality Indicators for Learning and
Teaching (QILT) survey scores for C&I colleges in Australia. Net Promoter Scores and other student
satisfaction surveys completed across the Group also demonstrated high quality outcomes.
The Company invested to ensure compliance with new global privacy and data regulations to safeguard
student and staff information, including European-led General Data Privacy Regulation principles across
all Navitas entities and Notifiable Data Breach requirements in Australia.
Rationalisation of Careers and Industry Division to underpin improved returns
The portfolio review of the Careers and Industry division highlighted the variability of financial returns
across different regions. In high-demand sectors and regions with stable regulatory environments, the
division is well placed to offer high quality student programs profitably. However, SAE’s US operations
have experienced challenging operating conditions, a situation which is not expected to improve in the
foreseeable future. For example, accreditation is required at both state and national levels, leading to long
lead times, high compliance costs, and relatively small student cohorts.
The rationalisation program will include the closure and relocation of some colleges and the investigation
of the sale of the SAE US business. Health Skills Australia will also be closed or divested as changes to
the vocational education funding rules in Australia have impacted the economic viability of the business.
We will support affected students to either complete their programs before closure or to transfer to an
alternative provider for completion.
This rationalisation is expected to reduce the Division’s revenue but improve operating EBITDA, margins
and ongoing working capital requirements. It also provides the Division with a stronger foundation for
future growth
Continued growth in enrolments
The University Partnerships Division grew enrolments by 6% across FY18 ahead of Navitas’ 2020 target
of 5%. New partnership contracts were signed with Virginia Commonwealth University and Murdoch
University and four existing partner contracts were successfully renewed with no change in key
commercial terms. In addition the college operated with Swansea University was converted to a joint
venture on 1 March 2018 to implement a broader strategic opportunity for growth.
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The Careers and Industry Division opened a new SAE campus in Hannover and several SAE campuses
were refurbished and relocated, including Vienna, Paris and Brisbane, to drive improved student
outcomes and enrolments.
Capital management initiatives
Navitas has declared a final dividend of 8.0 cents per share, partially franked at 70%. This takes the full
year dividend to 17.4 cents per share. Navitas concluded its share buy-back program in the period with
approximately 70% of the buy-back target achieved.
Corporate governance
An overview of our governance and risk management processes is available on page 28 and the full
version online. We encourage shareholders to read it in full.
David Buckingham was announced as the successor for Rod Jones as CEO and Managing Director in
October 2017. Following a handover period, David assumed CEO responsibilities in March 2018 and
Managing Director responsibilities in July 2018. As previously mentioned, Rod was appointed as a NonExecutive Director upon his retirement from executive duties. The Board is pleased with the stability
provided for Navitas and its stakeholders going forward.
The period also saw the retirement of James King from the Board after 13 years of excellent service for
Navitas. Jim was a long-term member of the Navitas Board and a great source of wisdom and support.
Thank you for your continued support
Navitas has taken some difficult but necessary measures in FY18 to strengthen its platform for long term
growth. This work will continue in FY19 but as an education provider with a history of delivering quality
student outcomes, a reputation for innovation and with access to capital, Navitas is well positioned to
excel in an evolving education sector.
We would like to thank the Board and the entire Navitas team for their contribution to the outcomes
achieved in FY18. We would also like to thank all our shareholders for their ongoing support and look
forward to delivering on our plans for growth in shareholder returns.

Tracey Horton AO
Chairman

David Buckingham
Group Chief Executive Officer
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About Navitas
Vision and purpose
Navitas’ vision is to be universally recognised as one of the world’s most trusted learning organisations,
and its purpose is to transform lives by increasing student access to quality tertiary education.

How we create value
Navitas is an Australian headquartered, global education company operating in 27 countries. Navitas
creates value by providing high quality outcomes and experiences to our students through their learning
journey:

This commitment to high quality academic outcomes and student experience covers more than 120
education and training operations in the post-secondary education sector. Navitas also plays a vital
economic role in its communities. In FY18 wealth generated by Navitas was distributed as follows:
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Navitas operates across two Divisions, supported by a shared corporate function and Navitas Ventures,
the Company’s incubation venture:
•

University Partnerships: provides pre-university, managed campus and university pathway
programs that increase students’ access to higher education and prepares them for future
success; and

•

Careers and Industry: delivers vocational and higher education programs in the creative,
government services, human services and health sectors.

Strategy
Navitas continued to pursue its strategic plan in FY18, incorporating the following vision and goals:
Division

Vision

University
Partnerships

To be the preferred transformation
partner to universities around the world

Goals
•
•
•
•

Careers and
Industry

Provide students with a quality, valued
education in segments with strong
employment prospects

•
•
•
•

Navitas
Ventures

Scaling ideas and growing teams that
unleash human potential and transform
the way the world learns

•
•
•

Extend and enhance University partnerships
contracts, services and student outcomes
Develop new products
Develop new partners
Transform to broader partner activities
Refocus the Division into industry aligned sectors
Increase performance of the core including
academic outcomes
Build or acquire new industry niches
Develop online and EdTech opportunities
Appoint key resources and establish deal pipeline
Make investments that provide a 15% minimum IRR
to Navitas
Gain access to new capabilities that build, extend
and hedge Navitas’ core business

The Group intends to deliver the following set of Key Strategic Goals by 2020, under the three pillars of
quality, efficiency and growth. Progress to date includes:

1
2

University Partnerships Division only

Based on constant currency and CAGR calculated assuming AMEP revenue reduction excluded from
FY17 to FY20. This reduces to 3% CAGR against FY17 Group revenue if AMEP revenue is included

3
4

Excludes Careers and Industry Division rationalisation charges
Net capex after lease incentive of $37.6m

5

Based on constant currency and assuming AMEP revenue is excluded
from reported numbers
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Review of Operations
FY18 Group Financial performance
The Group’s summary results for FY18 were:
Reported

Year ended 30 June

2018

2017

vs pcp (%)

Revenue ($m)
EBITDA ($m)
EBITDA margin (%)
Pro-forma EBITDA ($m)2
Reported NPAT ($m)
EPS (cents)
Operating cash flow per Share (cents)
Full year dividend

931.0
82.0
8.8
84.0
(55.3)
(15.6)
25.8
17.4

955.2
155.0
16.2
156.4
80.9
22.1
28.3
19.5

(3)
(47)
(46)
(46)
(9)
(11)

Continuing Operations1
2018
2017
vs pcp
(%)
931.0
142.1
15.3
144.0

939.7
145.0
15.4
146.4

Note 1 – Continuing operations excludes contributions from closed Business Units (Macquarie and Curtin Sydney) and
adjustments arising from the rationalisation of the Careers and Industry Division as announced to the ASX on 18 July 2018.
Note 2 – Pro-forma EBITDA includes share of EBITDA from joint ventures

Group revenue was $931.0m reflecting:
•
Solid enrolment growth in Australian, Canadian and UK University Partnerships colleges;
•
Fee growth across all University Partnerships regions;
•
Enrolment growth in SAE’s Australian and European campuses;
•
Ongoing global demand for quality higher education and vocational programs;
•
FY17 Group revenue included income for the now closed Macquarie University college and more
Adult Migrant English program contract regions;
•
Contributions from underperforming colleges such as HSA and SAE US which are now
progressing towards teach-out and closure or sale;
•
Restrictive operating conditions for the University Partnerships Division in the US following tighter
visa regulations; and
•
The conversion of ECC to a joint venture in FY17, with revenue disclosed in equity accounted
entities.
Revenue was distributed geographically as below:

EBITDA for continuing operations was in line with expectations at $142.1m driven primarily by enrolment
and fee growth across the University Partnerships Division.
Reported EBITDA declined to $82.0m, impacted by the Careers and Industry rationalisation cost, $10.1m
contribution from closed University Partnerships colleges in FY17, a $14.0m reduction in AMEP earnings
following a reduced number of contract regions and the ongoing impact of changes to federal vocation
funding rules on HSA and ACAP. Including $1.9m from four joint venture colleges Group Pro-Forma
EBITDA was $144.0.
Reported net loss after tax was $55.3m, impacted by the $123.8m charge for rationalised colleges
announced on 18 July 2018.
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(1)
(2)
(1)
(2)

Divisional EBITDA results were as follows:
Continuing operations1
2018
2017
vs pcp
FY18
%
margin
%
132.1
121.2
9
22.1
18.4
31.1
(41)
16.1

Year ended 30 June

2018

Reported
2017
vs pcp
%

$m
University Partnerships
Professional and English
Programs (PEP)

132.1
15.4

131.2
31.1

1
(50)

FY18
margin
%
22.1
13.5

(29.9)

29.9

-

-

27.2

29.9

(9)

13.4

(14.5)
117.6
(35.7)
82.0

61.0
192.2
(37.2)
155.0

(39)
(4)
(47)

8.8

45.6
177.8
(35.7)
142.1

61.0
182.2
(37.2)
145.0

(25)
(2)
(4)
(2)

14.4

2.0

1.4

43

-

2.0

1.4

43

84.0
(55.3)

156.4
80.9

(46)
-

-

144.0

146.4

(2)

SAE
Careers & Industry
Divisional EBITDA
Corporate costs
EBITDA
Share of EBITDA from
joint ventures
Pro-forma2 EBITDA
Reported NPAT

15.3

Note 1 – Continuing operations excludes contributions from closed Business Units (Macquarie and Curtin Sydney) and
adjustments arising from the rationalisation of the Careers and Industry Division as announced to the ASX on 18 July 2018.
Note 2 – Pro-forma EBITDA includes share of EBITDA from joint ventures

Financial controls and systems
All of Navitas’ major operations now utilise Oracle which is integrated with a new upgraded student
management system. The new shared financial service structure for financial reporting was completed in
FY18.
Capex and depreciation
Capex for the FY18 period was $21.1m (FY17: $81.7m) with key items including investment in upgraded
IT security and student management systems as well as SAE’s refurbishment of the Paris and Brisbane
campuses.
Depreciation for the year was $31.4m (excluding $24.4m of impairments to Property, Plant and
Equipment), a 2.5% decrease on FY17 (FY17: $32.3m). This reflected stabilisation to a lower level of
capital expenditure.
Interest
Net interest expense of $7.9m was higher than FY17 ($5.8m) reflecting the Group’s higher net debt.
Tax
For FY18, before the C&I Division rationalisation charges Navitas’ global effective tax rate was 35.7%
which is higher than the Australian corporate income tax rate of 30%.
Navitas’ global tax rate is impacted by a number of considerations, including the tax rates of the
jurisdictions where Navitas derives income, the entitlement to tax concessions (such as Research and
Development deductions), and the ability to recognise tax benefits on losses recorded in foreign tax
jurisdictions. These factors substantially account for any difference between Navitas’ global effective tax
rate and the Australian corporate income tax rate of 30%.
Navitas’ approach to tax strategy is to ensure robust tax governance across the countries in which Navitas
operates to meet compliance obligations with local tax authorities. In conducting Navitas’ operations (both
in Australia and offshore), Navitas pays tax where the underlying economic activity takes place.
Navitas supports initiatives by revenue authorities and large corporations to provide additional tax
transparency to stakeholders and the community. Navitas has proactively adopted the Australian Board
of Taxation’s Voluntary Tax Transparency Code and other comparable initiatives being adopted
internationally to support these initiatives. For more information on Navitas’ tax activities please see the
2017 Tax Transparency Report.
A UK subsidiary of Navitas has been in dispute with HM Revenue & Customs (HMRC) in the UK as to
whether the subsidiary provides exempt education for the purposes of UK VAT. Over the course of the
dispute Navitas’ UK subsidiary has prepaid all VAT claimed by HMRC pending the result of the court
13

process. The UK subsidiary is awaiting the outcome of its appeal to a recent decision that ruled in favour
of HMRC.
Balance sheet
Net debt at 30 June 2018 was $201.9m (FY17: $186.0m) reflecting:
•
Improved operating cashflows more than offset by lower lease incentives, higher tax and higher
investing cashflows; and
•
A one-off adverse foreign currency adjustment on recognition of new cross currency swaps.
Total equity at 30 June 2018 was reduced to $28.8m (FY17: $155.7m) as a result of the charges incurred
for rationalising the Careers and Industry Division portfolio. Deferred revenue at 30 June 2018 was
$278.5m (FY17: $262.1m).
Cash flows
Operating cash flows were $92.3m compared to the prior year (FY17: $101.5m) though the prior period
included $37.6m of one-off lease incentives.
Shareholder Value and EVA®
Navitas utilises the economic value added (EVA®) framework to assess shareholder value with EVA®
being a measure of returns above or below the Group’s weighted average cost of capital for funds
employed by the business. Targets for EVA® growth are set every three years with the targets being set
for the FY18 to FY20 period. EVA® for FY18 was $38.6m which represents a $10.9m decrease in EVA®
compared to FY17. Further details about the calculation of EVA® can be found on page 39 of this report.
Dividend
The Directors have declared a partially franked (70%) final dividend of 8.0 cents per share (FY17: 10.1
cents). This takes the full year dividend to 17.4 cents (FY17: 19.5 cents). The lower dividend announced
this year reflects the reported net loss after tax resulting from the decision to rationalise the Careers and
Industry division. This dividend represents approximately 90% of normalised earnings per share and free
cash flows. The dividend will be paid on 17 September 2018 with the record date being 3 September
2018.
Risks
Navitas deals with a variety of business risks, which are actively assessed and managed. These
disclosures relate to economic and social sustainability risks (as defined by the Corporate Governance
Principles and Recommendations (3rd Edition) published by the ASX Corporate Governance Council).
Navitas does not consider it has any material environmental risks. Material business risks and the way
the Company manages them are described below. This is not a comprehensive list of the risks which
Navitas faces or the mitigating actions that have been adopted.
Risk

Mitigation

Government policy and regulation - Navitas operates in the
higher education sector which is subject to extensive laws and
regulations relating to, among other things: the accreditation of
courses and colleges; minimum standards for the quality of
teaching and student outcomes; the mobility, migration and
immigration of international students; and the management and
appropriation of government funding for education purposes.
Recent years have seen several government and policy changes
in the countries in which Navitas operates. Navitas believes that
education, training and immigration will continue to be topical
policy in these countries in the near to medium term.
During FY18, Navitas was impacted by changes to relevant
government regulation and policy globally, including: VAT rulings
impacting the SAE UK operations, and an uncertain immigration
position in the USA and the UK,

Navitas monitors policy and regulatory developments
and engages appropriately with politicians, policy
makers and regulatory bodies to effect positive
change. Our operations in North America, Europe and
Australasia create an opportunity to channel students
into colleges and courses in countries with more
certain or favourable policy settings.
If government policy and regulatory conditions are
predicted to impact profitability over future periods,
management makes appropriate business decisions –
such as the changes announced by the Company (18
July 2018) and posted on the Navitas website
(https://www.navitas.com/organisation/investors).

Regulatory compliance - Navitas is subject to applicable laws,
regulations and standards to operate its core education business.
If licences or accreditations for the operation of courses, colleges
or campuses (where required) are adversely amended or
revoked, it could result in negative impacts to the Company’s
reputation and limit its licence to operate.

Navitas embeds compliance processes into its core
business in order to maintain the licence and
accreditation status required to operate.
Navitas liaises with governments and regulatory
bodies on proposed changes which may directly or
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Risk

Mitigation
indirectly impact its core business and the wider
education and immigration sectors.

Competition – Navitas’ core business of running pathway
programs is underpinned by a nurturing face-to-face learning
environment for international students which provides a range of
benefits to integrate students into a foreign country and a
university education.
This method of learning remains popular and continues to grow
with the middle-income demographic growth in emerging markets
of China, the India subcontinent and South-East Asian countries
– all of which are traditional recruitment strongholds for our
business.
However, the higher education sector, like many others, is
subject to increased competition and a degree of disruption,
including from government policy – where, for example the
Australian Government has introduced funding caps which may
see the universities which Navitas partners with respond by
lowering entrance scores, thus creating competition for student
enrolments.
Disruption from new entrants and emerging education technology
(EdTech) is something the Company continues to monitor,
however, it is believed that wide-scale disruption to the core
pathway business will not have a significant impact in the short to
medium term.

Navitas assesses its existing service offerings and that
of the universities it partners with to meet current and
projected future needs, including to seek out
opportunities in potential growth markets to increase
enrolments. During the year a ‘digital experience’ team
was formed to find ways to enhance the student
experience to enable growth and retention.
Navitas has a Global Learning and Teaching function
which leads innovation and change in its core
operations, providing support to colleges and
university partners.
Outside the core business, Navitas Ventures provides
a means to invest in new income streams, including
innovative EdTech. Navitas Ventures investments are
tightly controlled and subject to comprehensive due
diligence procedures including senior executive and
Board approval.
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Risk

Mitigation

Data protection and cyber risk – Navitas’ core business
requires it to collect, store and process student and business
partners’ data.
Like many organisations across all industries, Navitas is not
immune to the threat of a cyber-security attack. Such attacks are
generally malicious in nature and have the potential to
compromise the confidentiality, integrity and/or availability of
sensitive information and technology assets. Along with changes
to data protection laws, including the Global Data Protection
Regulation (GDPR – which is a European Union data protection
regulation), expectations have increased globally that personal
data is protected.
Failure to adequately secure such data could see Navitas face
significant fines and incur reputational damage.

Navitas has an ongoing information security program
of work which is designed to identify and reduce the
information security risks to its business, its students
and its business partners. Further to this, Navitas
recently completed a Global Data Protection
Regulation (GDPR) compliance program of work. Both
programs have delivered a number of key outcomes,
including:
•
•
•
•
•

Increased staff awareness around the prevention
and detection of data breaches;
Updated information security policy framework;
Proactive incident identification and response;
Automated malware prevention across the
Navitas IT environment; and
Visibility of information security vulnerabilities.

Market dependency – Navitas has a high market dependency
on certain countries (inc. China) for student enrolments.
There are varying degrees of political, legislative and
environmental stability in some source countries where
prospective students originate and also the destination countries
in which Navitas operates from.
A major political crisis or natural event may limit or restrict for a
short to medium period the freedom of movement for students
from source countries or into destination countries in which
Navitas operates. One or more of these events could negatively
affect the ability to source students into educational programs, as
well as the Company’s overall student enrolments and financial
results.

Navitas utilises a broad network of source country
offices and education advisors/agents, aligned to a
global marketing and recruitment program to ensure a
reliable flow of students.
Navitas assesses the markets in which it operates and
potential new markets to identify and proactively seek
growth opportunities.
During FY18 the Company tested its crisis
management plan which is designed to ensure the
business continues to operate in the event of a major
crisis.

Partner relationships - Navitas works with a variety of partners
including industry bodies, regulators, service providers,
governments and partner universities for core business
operations; and believes that all parties maximise the benefits
when there is a strong relationship.
There are a number of events which could affect these
relationship, including: strategic misalignment; student, business
and compliance performance; and commercial differences. If
mismanaged, a poor relationship could impact the Company’s
growth potential with its partners.

Key Navitas executives and business managers are
accountable for the health and management of
relationships within their portfolios. They draw upon a
range of formal and informal processes, both internal
and external, to monitor, assess, improve and add
value to partnerships and relationships.
Navitas commenced in FY18 an external study with its
university partners to assess the health of its
relationships with key stakeholders and customers.

Contract renewal - The core of Navitas’ operations is based on
contractual relationships with university partners, Commonwealth
and State Governments and industry partners. Most contracts
have a fixed term requiring renewal or extension of terms,
conditions, the scope and tenure period. Navitas has a good track
record for renewing and extending contracts with its partners,
however, from time to time these contracts may not be renewed.

Navitas takes a disciplined approach to contract
renewal. Accountability for ongoing partner
relationships is assigned to executives and regular
updates are provided to the Navitas Board.
In FY18 Navitas renewed all contracts which were due
and commenced two new contracts with university
partners. All contract renewal activity is disclosed on
the Navitas website
(https://www.navitas.com/organisation/investors)
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About Our Businesses
Review of Operations - University Partnerships
Division
FY18 Highlights
Quality
•
Average Pass rates increased from 82% to 84%, retention rates increased from 87% to 90%,
progression-to-partner university rate held at 94%;
•
Continued delivery of strong student experience and academic outcomes; and
•
Five University Partnerships contracts renewed – no change in key commercial terms.
Efficiency
•
40 bps EBITDA margin improvement for continuing operations to 22.1%.
Growth
•
6% enrolment growth in FY18;
•
Average fee growth offset marginally by a change to lower priced courses;
•
New agreements signed with Virginia Commonwealth University and Murdoch University in
Dubai; and
•
Swansea College converted to joint venture model.

University Partnerships
Revenue ($m)

University Partnerships
EBITDA Margin (%)
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University Partnerships overview
The University Partnerships Division provides pre-university and university pathway programs, to
international and domestic students enhancing their probability of success in higher education. Pathway
programs are delivered across both undergraduate and postgraduate levels.
The pathway program model provides pre and first-year university courses to international students from
more than 140 countries who do not qualify for direct entry to partner universities due to either language
or academic record. Some Australian and UK colleges also admit domestic students who do not gain
direct entry to our partner universities.
On completion of the Navitas program students are eligible for direct entry into second and third year
programs at partner universities, or Masters level programs for postgraduate students.
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FY17

FY18

University Partnerships model

University Partnerships courses are delivered via on-campus colleges, through an agreement with a
partner university, in a structured environment aimed at maximising student success. This includes
additional teaching hours, smaller class sizes and increased levels of learning support and pastoral care.
Navitas currently operates 37 University Partnerships’ colleges across three main regions. In addition the
Division has responsibility for eight English Language colleges across Australia.

Location of University
Partnerships colleges

Quality
University Partnerships’ colleges continued to achieve high quality outcomes:
•
An increase in average pass rates to 84%;
•
An increase in average retention rates to 90%; and
•
An average progression-to-partner university rate of 94%.
A student satisfaction survey completed in 2017 by over 6,000 students found that 97% of students were
satisfied or better with the quality of teaching at their Navitas pathway college. In addition, one of the
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Division’s English Language schools was voted the #1 recommended English Language school in
Australia and #2 globally in an independent survey of more than 19,000 students globally at 73 institutions.
Efficiency
Following the review and optimisation of the University Partnerships college operating model in FY17 the
Division focused on supporting the development of three global shared services centres for Finance, IT
and HR services in FY18. In the UK student admissions and recruitment were also centralised to improve
efficiency and promote best practice.
Growth
Overall enrolments were up 6% in FY18 compared with FY17 due to continued strong demand for quality
education opportunities by international students. The average price growth across the colleges was offset
marginally by a change in programs and university mix. The Division recorded 4% growth in revenue to
$598.9m with EBITDA of $132.1m. The prior comparative period included contributions from the closed
Macquarie and Curtin Sydney colleges and from ECC before conversion to a joint venture. Excluding
these non-recurring items University Partners revenue grew 7% and EBITDA grew 9%.
Business development to renew existing partnership contracts or establish new partnership agreements
continues to be a major focus across all regions. New agreements were signed with Virginia
Commonwealth University in the US and Murdoch University for its Dubai campus.
Contracts with our partners at Deakin University, Curtin University (Singapore and Perth colleges), Anglia
Ruskin University and Brunel University were all renewed in the year with no change in key commercial
terms. Swansea College, in conjunction with Swansea University, was also converted to a joint venture to
expand the strategic opportunity to grow more broadly.
Market conditions and share
The University Partnerships Division operates in Australia, Canada, the US, the UK, New Zealand, Sri
Lanka and Singapore. Regulation and government policy can significantly influence the Division’s
operations and varies across jurisdictions.
In Australia, the government’s immigration policy and the Simplified Streamlined Visa Framework (SSVF)
continued to support growth in international student enrolments. Canada continues to have a very
supportive international student visa regime as well.
The US and UK sectors remained challenging during FY18 though there was some improvement in the
UK in the lead up to Brexit. Sector wide enrolments in the US continued to decline under a highly restrictive
immigration policy.
Navitas has a leading market share in the Australian and Canadian pathway sectors, with a smaller market
share in the UK and US.
Progress against strategy
In FY18 Navitas released its revised strategic direction and vision for the University Partnerships Division.
Progress to date against that strategy is outlined in the table below.
University Partnerships vision - To be the preferred transformation partner to universities around the world
FY18 progress
Extend and enhance
University
partnerships
contracts,
services
and
student
outcomes

Develop new
products

By 2020



High
pass,
retention
progression-to-university
maintained



Anglia Ruskin University, Swansea
University, Curtin University (Perth
and
Singapore)
and
Brunel
University contracts renewed



Optimal College model completed in
Australia and North America



Sales and Marketing transformation
program well progressed



and
rates

English language programs fully
integrated

Maintain high pass,
progression rates

retention

and

Renew all contracts due in FY19 –
University
Canterbury
(November),
University of Portsmouth (February),
University of Plymouth (March)
Complete the implementation of Sales and
Marketing transformation initiatives
Improve Division efficiency and margin
Expand new programs and products to
partners
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Explore pathways-to-employment offering
and work integrated learning
Grow, retain and
support partners



Signed new agreements with Virginia
and
Commonwealth
University
Murdoch University



Strong
pipeline



Swansea College converted to Joint
Venture model

Business

Development

Sign 5 new university partners by 2020
Maintain strong Business Development
pipeline
Continue to expand suite of pathway
solutions
Explore a variety of models to suit different
needs of university partners
Develop and target
offerings for partners

transformation
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Review of Operations - Careers and Industry Division
FY18 Highlights
Quality
•
Above sector average Quality Indicators for Learning and Teaching survey results including
student support and teaching quality.
Efficiency
•
Rationalisation of the Careers and Industry portfolio announced to improve returns and create
foundation for future growth.
Growth
•
New SAE campus in Hannover and several campuses refurbished for growth.
C&I Revenue* ($m)
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Careers and Industry overview
The Careers and Industry Division delivers tertiary to post graduate level programs across several sectors:

•

Creative: delivers a range of predominantly Higher Education programs via the SAE chain of
creative media colleges across several major fields of study: audio, film, animation, gaming,
design, and web. SAE is one of the world’s largest creative media education companies, with 51
campuses across 26 countries.

•

Government services: delivers the Australian Government’s Adult Migrant English Program
(AMEP) and the Skills for Education and Employment (SEE) program across Australia.

•

Human Services: delivered by the Australian College of Applied Psychology and the Navitas
College of Public Safety (NCPS), courses include diploma to higher education programs in
psychology, counselling, social work and criminal justice.

•

Leadership and Development: delivered by the Australian School of Applied Management
including Leadership Education and professional development for teachers.
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FY17

FY18

All colleges and campuses across the Division are industry orientated with a focus on the delivery of
strong employment outcomes and with curricula that are fully owned by Navitas. Students are
predominantly domestic students.
Market conditions and share
The Careers and Industry Division operates across multiple jurisdictions, including Australia, the UK, US
and Europe.
While higher education policy in Australia remained supportive, widespread reforms to Commonwealth
vocational education funding introduced in 2017 continue to inhibit enrolment growth. It is not expected
that there will be any improvement in funding availability in the medium term which has led to the decision
to close Health Skills Australia.
Ongoing reforms to national accrediting bodies in the US have continued to delay the approval process
for new courses and programs that are available for launch. These delays, along with high lease,
administration and compliance costs resulted in a decision by the Company to close two SAE US colleges
and explore the divestment of the remaining colleges. In addition the SAE Oxford college will be closed
and the SAE Indonesia college converted to a licensed operation in FY19.
SAE UK has lodged its appeal regarding its VAT exemption status and the outcome should be known in
FY19.
Quality
A commitment to quality outcomes is reflected in high Net Promoter Scores and strong student experience
survey results compared to the wider higher education sector.
ACAP and NCPS achieved above-average results in the 2018 Australian Quality Indicators for Learning
and Teaching survey in many areas including graduate satisfaction (+7%), student support (+6%), skills
development (+4%) and teaching quality (+5%).
SAE achieved higher than sector-average scores in the same survey in the areas of student support
(+14%), learner engagement (+14%), skills development (+5%) and teaching quality (+4%). Additionally
over 90% of students surveyed at SAE globally were satisfied with both academic support levels and the
relevancy of teaching content to a career in the industry.
Efficiency
Following an extensive portfolio review a number of Careers and Industry colleges and campuses were
scheduled for closure or divestment due to underperformance.
Growth
Careers and Industry revenue for continuing operations decreased to $317.5m and EBITDA decreased
to $45.6m following a reduced number of AMEP contract regions and the effect of restrictive Vocational
Education funding on Health Skills Australia and ACAP.
SAE opened a new campus in Hannover, Germany, and relocated or refurbished the Paris, Glasgow and
Brisbane campuses to allow for greater growth.
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Progress against strategy
Careers and Industry vision - Providing students with a quality, valued education in segments with strong
employment prospects
FY18 progress
Refocus into industry
aligned vertical
segments

Increase
performance of core
– including academic
outcomes
Develop future
business
opportunities



Careers and Industry portfolio
review completed



4 sub-scale SAE campuses exited
with divestment being explored for
SAE US



Acquired ASAM business joins the
Division



Strong academic and student
experience outcomes

By 2020
Implement C&I portfolio review outcomes
and deliver full benefits

Keep improving academic and student
experience outcomes
Develop efficiencies across the Division



New vertical segments developed
and expanded



Market research continued to
identify appropriate new verticals



Screening ongoing for quality entry
options (organic/inorganic)



Partner with Navitas Ventures to
explore borderless opportunities

Further develop online capability
Build or acquire high quality borderless
education organisations aligned to
vertical segments
Explore further SAE licensing
opportunities
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Corporate Responsibility
Navitas has a reputation as a socially responsible organisation. Importantly, this reputation sits alongside
the Group’s commitment and track record of delivering high quality academic outcomes.
Navitas’ corporate responsibility strategy focuses on: Our Communities, Our People, Our Environment
and Our Customers. The strategy aligns with current business objectives and is also reflective of the
significant interaction and involvement that Navitas and individual business units have had within their
communities for many years.
The strategy is mutually beneficial, delivering benefits to global stakeholders and participants while
bringing long term benefits to Navitas and its shareholders.

Supporting our people and being a good employer
Navitas was built on a desire to support a diverse group of students from countries to succeed in their
tertiary studies overseas. Today, this important sentiment of unity and camaraderie is still alive and
represented in Navitas' diverse employee, student and partner base. It is also echoed in the way that
Navitas operates – the Company is proud to celebrate what makes it unique.
Navitas is committed to providing a safe and productive workplace for its ~8,000 employees around the
world, and continued to report strong results on gender representation and workplace safety in FY18.
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Navitas promotes a workplace that recognises and embraces the skills, characteristics and experiences
that people bring to the Group. Accordingly, a diversity strategy is in place that outlines measurable
objectives to achieve gender diversity within the Group:
Target

FY18 performance

The Non-Executive Director group should
comprise a minimum of 40% female Directors and
40% male Directors
The Navitas Leadership Team shoud comprise a
minimum of 40% female staff and 40% male staff
The senior executive group should comprise a
minimum of 40% female staff and 40% male staff
Total employees should be comprised of a
minimum of 40% female staff and 40% male staff
with appropriate skills and attributes

Male 50%, female 50%

Male 87%, female 13%
Male 60%, female 40%
Male 40%, female 60%

*Senior executives for the purposes of the above table are defined as members of the Navitas Leadership Team, the
Senior Management Team, the Executive General Management (EGM) and the senior direct reports to the EGM of the
operating Divisions in total approximately 179 employees.

As at 30 June 2018, the proportion of men and women employed by the Navitas Group in Australia is set
out in the table below:
Position

Men

Women

Non-Executive Directors
Senior Managers
Full time Permanent Employees
Full time Contract Employees
Part time Permanent Employees
Part time Contract Employees

3 (50%)
82 (55%)
537 (42%)
152 (46%)
180 (26%)
90 (48%)

3 (50%)
67 (45%)
732 (58%)
176 (54%)
501 (74%)
97 (52%)

The Diversity Policy is publicly available on the Company's website:
www.navitas.com/corporate/investors
Navitas is committed to providing a safe and secure workplace with world class health and safety
capabilities. In FY18 Navitas’ Australian operations reported:
Metric
Fatalities
Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) - number of lost time
injuries per million hours worked
Prosecutions or Regulatory/Improvement notices

FY18
0
2.45

FY17
0
0.95

0

0

Navitas’ Wellness, Health and Safety (WHS) program continues the focus on protecting and enhancing
health and wellness for everyone who works, learns or visits with Navitas in FY18. Consequently improved
awareness has resulted in increased reporting levels and a higher LTIFR for FY18. Navitas has continued
to deliver its WHS Strategy 2017-2020, which is driving WHS improvements through four strategic focus
areas;
•
People, Capability and Culture;
•
Keeping Staff and Students Safe;
•
Workplace Injury & Illness Support Programs; and
•
Promoting Physical & Mental Wellness.
Privacy
In FY18 Navitas also significantly improved its policies and practices on privacy and data security, in line
with a number of new regulations including General Data Privacy Regulation in Europe and Notifiable
Data Breach requirements in Australia. This has included:
•
•

Implemented tools to maintain and continuously improve data privacy and protection;
Established a global data privacy & protection organisational structure;
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•
•
•
•

Compulsory privacy training for all affected staff;
New policies and procedures on privacy, data management, IT security and data breaches;
Amending partner and supplier contracts to reflect privacy regulations; and
Regular data audits.

Ensuring environmental awareness and sustainability
Most of Navitas’ global network of more than 120 campuses and colleges are leased or owned by partners.
Within this constraint Navitas aims to:
•

Ensure sustainability is included in design and construction guidelines, and where possible, all
design materials come from sustainable, low energy use resources;

•

Ensure that contractors used in construction and maintenance demonstrate sustainability
credentials as part of tender or contract establishment; and

•

Introduce energy savings through the introduction of energy efficient equipment and education.

As a part of this sustainability strategy Navitas:
•

Has continued to improve measurement of key environmental outputs such as energy usage;

•

Is supporting its staff at a college level by providing information about ways to reduce energy
consumption; and

•

Has continued to improve monitoring the generation of general waste at a college level, with the
view of finding ways to improve waste management.

Ensuring positive outcomes for students, clients and partners
Navitas utilises a range of annual surveys and studies to monitor and ensure key academic performance
indicators are met. External benchmarking involves comparing key academic performance indicators
across Navitas colleges, while internal benchmarking takes place between the individual colleges and
their partner universities.
Within the University Partnerships Division, pass rates and retention target rates (the rate of students
moving from semester to semester) are set at greater than 75%. In the 2017 calendar year, both targets
were exceeded, with average pass rates of 84%, retention rates at 90% and progression to partner rates
of 94%. Other student and client outcomes are listed on pages 12-22.
Our community contribution
At Navitas we firmly believe that education is essential to building better futures and is a core
component to the sustainable development of any community. We are pleased to support community
organisations around the world, both locally where we operate, and globally where there is need.
The Navitas Education Trust (NET) is Navitas’ corporate responsibility philanthropic vehicle for
supporting education-related charities and not-for-profit organisations. It was established to share some
of our success through projects that improve access to and the quality of education delivered in
disadvantaged communities globally.
The NET has been in operation since 2013 and since that time has made commitments of over $2
million in funding to education-focussed programs.
Every year Navitas contributes $500,000 to the NET with a portion used to fund education-based
initiatives in partnership with not-for-profit charitable organisations and the remainder invested to
generate interest on the funds for future programs.
In December each year the NET opens grant applications for the coming financial year, accepting
submissions from organisations that meet the key criteria outlined in the NET Application Guidelines.
The application window closes in February and applications are then assessed through a formal review
and evaluation process. All applicants are notified of outcomes in May, with funds distributed to
successful applicants at the beginning of the financial year.
In FY18, seven new initiatives were funded, with the NET making new commitments of $496,365 to
support programs delivered over one to three years. A total of $372,691 was granted to nine programs
through the NET in FY18.
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Below is an outline of the nine programs supported by NET in FY18.
1.

Navitas partnered with Rotary Australia to help the Chiedza Childcare Centre of Zimbabwe
provide access to education for 395 children and youth in urban and rural communities in
Zimbabwe. The project benefits boys and girls between nine and 15 who are orphaned, poor
and vulnerable and who either failed to start school by the age of nine, or dropped out of school
before completing the first seven years of basic education.

2.

Navitas supported the Australian Business Community Network (ABCN) for the fifth year in a
row. NET funding is used for two Navitas-named scholarships that support high-performing but
disadvantaged year 10 students. The scholarships provide financial support over a three-year
period, along with corporate mentoring, workshops, program delivery and more, helping
recipients through the last two years of high school and the first year of work or tertiary study.

3.

Navitas provided funds to Classroom of Hope to support activities in four primary schools in
rural Battambang, Cambodia that improve education access and quality. This is an extension
of an earlier NET program, with some funds used to construct school buildings at one
particularly remote school.

4.

Assisi Aid Projects received funding to support Assisi’s Education and Skill Development
Project, which works to improve the livelihood of 490 children aged 6-16 years across 15 tribal
villages in Kanchipuram district, Tamil Nadu, India. The project is delivering an integrated
health, education and life skills program to the Irular people, a tribal group whose villages are
isolated from mainstream Indian society geographically, linguistically and culturally. The Irular
people have high rates of illiteracy with many living below the poverty line.

5.

Through the NET, KOTO in Vietnam received funding to assist 30 trainees with education,
accommodation, healthcare and career support services. The program aims to transform the
lives of disadvantaged and at-risk youth in Vietnam through its holistic hospitality training
program. The partnership with KOTO empowers disadvantaged youths to study hard and make
the most of their opportunities to become employable young adults, ready to inspire their
community.

6.

The Leprosy Mission Australia (TLMA) received funding to improve awareness and access to
education for those impacted by leprosy in Nepal. With the support of NET, the reach of the
TLMA scholarship program in Nepal has almost doubled. More than 330 children have been
given access to education, including uniforms and stationery costs, along with referrals for
rehabilitation and further medical assistance.

7.

NET partnered with Oaktree to support their Inspiring Young Learners through Quality
Education program – an initiative that aims to improve the quality of the teaching and learning
environment for secondary students in Timor-Leste. NET funding has provided teacher training
and mentoring to 120 teachers and has assisted in governance support across four schools.

8.

Through funding from the NET, the Sharing Stories Foundation is working with Indigenous
communities in Australia to protect, maintain and grow language, stories and cultural heritage
through digital technologies and vibrant artistic art forms. NET funding is creating 13
comprehensive teacher resources to support student engagement. This collection of vibrant,
interactive and bilingual multi-touch books shares animated interpretations of Indigenous stories
from across Australia. When completed, the series will be mapped to the Australian Curriculum
to assist teaching of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Island perspectives.

9.

NET extended its partnership with Plan International for the Inclusive Education for Children
with Disabilities program, which provides infrastructure, training, and resources so that children
with disabilities can learn alongside their able-bodied peers across ten schools in Dhaka,
Bangladesh.

Navitas also supported a number of other community activities through FY18, including:
•
Providing more than 265 academic scholarships worth approximately $1.1 million;
•
Donating or raising almost $45,000 for a variety of causes;
•
450 employees volunteered 1,472 hours globally to participate in volunteer programs across a
variety of causes; and
•
Committing more than 1,200 management hours to support corporate responsibility activities.
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Corporate Governance
The Board believes a high level of governance and transparency is critical in fostering a productive
corporate culture and business practices. Operating in accordance with high standards is essential to
achieving sustainable long-term performance and value-creation.
Role and responsibilities of the Board
Navitas’ Board of Directors is responsible for the corporate governance of Navitas and its subsidiary
companies. The Board determines all matters relating to the strategic direction, academic quality and
governance, policies, practices, management and operations of Navitas with the aim of protecting the
interests of the Company’s shareholders and other stakeholders, including employees, students and
partners.
Without limiting this general role, the specific functions and responsibilities of the Board include:
•
oversight of the Group, including its educational outcomes, control and accountability systems;
•
appointing and removing the CEO (or equivalent), including approving remuneration of the CEO
and the remuneration policy and succession plans for the CEO;
•
ratifying or approving the appointment and, where appropriate, the removal of the CFO (or
equivalent) or Company Secretary;
•
final approval of management's development of corporate strategy and performance objectives;
•
reviewing and ratifying systems of risk management and internal compliance and control, codes
of conduct and legal compliance;
•
monitoring senior management's performance and implementation of strategy, and ensuring
appropriate resources are available;
•
approving and monitoring the progress of major capital expenditure, capital management and
acquisitions and divestitures; and
•
approving and monitoring financial and other reporting.
Board members
To assist in identifying areas of focus and maintaining an appropriate mix of skills, experience, knowledge
and diversity, the PRC uses a Board skills matrix that is reviewed on a regular basis. It is an important
component of the criteria used for Director appointments.
The Board skills matrix contains the mix of skills, experience, knowledge and diversity that the Board
currently has and is looking to achieve in its composition. Each of these areas is currently well represented
on the Board, recognising that each Director may not necessarily have experience in or fit within all areas.
However, the Board benefits from the combination of the Directors’ individual skills, experience,
knowledge and diversity.
Independence
A Director is ‘independent’ where he or she is a non-executive Director, is not a member of management,
and is free of any relationship that could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere with the
independent exercise of their judgment. Six of seven Directors were independent as at 30 June 2018.
Risk management
The Board is ultimately responsible for risk management, and must satisfy itself that significant risks faced
by the Group are being managed appropriately, and that the system of risk management within the Group
is robust enough to respond to changes in Navitas' business environment.
The Audit and Risk Committee has the following responsibilities regarding risk management:
•
•
•
•
•
•

assessing the internal process for determining and managing key risk areas;
confirming management's risk appetite and tolerance;
ensuring that the Group has an effective risk management system and that macro risks to the
Group are reported at least twice a year to the Board;
evaluating the process Navitas has in place for assessing and continuously improving internal
controls, particularly those related to areas of significant risk;
assessing whether management has controls in place for unusual types of transactions and/or
any potential transactions that may carry more than an acceptable degree of risk; and
ensuring the continuous development of risk management in the Group and for supervising the
implementation of risk management in compliance with the risk management policy and
guidelines.
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Board Committees
Two standing Board committees have been established to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities.

Details of Navitas’ compliance with the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s “Corporate Governance
Principles and Recommendations (3rd Edition) for the year ended 30 June 2018 will be disclosed in the
Company’s Appendix 4G. This document will be lodged with ASX in accordance with Listing Rule 4.10.
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Directors’ report
Your Directors submit their report for the year ended 30 June 2018.
Directors
The names and details of the Company’s directors in office during the financial year and until the date of
this report are set out on pages 30 to 33. Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise
stated.
Names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities
TRACEY HORTON AO
BEcon (Hons) UWA, MBA Stan, Prof Emer, FAICD, FGIA
Non-Executive Chairman
Appointed as a Director on 13 June 2012 and as Chairman since 16 November 2016.
Ms Horton has extensive international business and education experience including as Winthrop
Professor and Dean of the University of Western Australia’s Business School. Prior to that she held
executive and senior management roles in North America with Bain & Company and across Australia with
Poynton and Partners and the Reserve Bank of Australia.
Ms Horton has significant governance experience including past directorships with Skilled Group and
Automotive Holdings Group. Ms Horton is a Commissioner for Tourism Western Australia, Chairman of
Presbyterian Ladies College, a national director of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and Past
President of the Chamber of Commerce and Industry (WA). Ms Horton is also a member of the Australian
Takeovers Panel and the Bain & Company WA Advisory Board.
During her time at the Reserve Bank and in the management consulting industry, Ms Horton gained
extensive management and leadership experience in financial analysis, economic modelling and
research, risk management, strategy development and implementation, operational and productivity
improvement and change management in several different industries and geographic regions.
During her time at the University of Western Australia, with line management responsibility for the
University’s largest cash-generating business unit, she accumulated considerable leadership experience
at a senior executive level in the education sector, including focus on people management and
remuneration and incorporating digital technologies into the faculty’s business model.
Ms Horton has been sitting on boards across the listed, private, government and not-for-profit sectors
since 2002. Over this period she has gained significant corporate governance experience through her
various Director, Chairman and Chair of Committee roles in a wide range of industries and organisations.
She contributes to the corporate governance profession through her membership of the board of the
Australian Institute of Company Directors and her chairmanship of its National Education Advisory
Committee.
In 2017, Ms Horton was made an Officer of the Order of Australia for distinguished service to business
and business education through a range of leadership and academic roles, and to the arts in Western
Australia.
During the past three years Ms Horton has served as a director of the following other listed companies:
• Skilled Group (from 10 February 2011 to 19 October 2015)
• Automotive Holdings Group Limited (from 3 May 2012 to 20 November 2015)
Ms Horton is also a member of the Board’s People and Remuneration Committee.
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ROD JONES
BComm, DEd (Hon) ECU, FAICD
Non-Executive Director
•
Appointed Group CEO and Managing Director on 18 June 2004
•
Resigned as Group CEO on 28 February 2018
•
Resigned as Managing Director on 30 June 2018
•
Became Non-Executive Director on 1 July 2018
Mr Jones has over 45 years’ experience in educational administration and has held a number of senior
administrative positions within the Government and the private education sectors. His background covers
both secondary and higher education in Australia.
Mr Jones has been involved in international education since 1987 and is recognised as one of the leaders
in the successful establishment of the sector in Australia. He is one of the co-founders of Navitas and was
Group CEO of the Company from its founding in 1994 until 2018. As CEO he has been instrumental in
the expansion and development of the Navitas model into the various markets in which it now operates.
Through this executive and Board experience at Navitas Mr Jones is considered to have extensive
experience in executive leadership, financial analysis, risk management, strategy, corporate governance,
remuneration, the education sector and technology.
In April 2007, Mr Jones received an honorary Doctor of Education from Edith Cowan University in
recognition of his outstanding contribution to the development of the international education sector both
in Australia and overseas, and in 2008 was awarded the Australian Ernst & Young Entrepreneur of the
Year. In 2010, Mr Jones was recognised by his colleagues with an International Education Excellence
Award from the International Education Association of Australia for his leadership in the field of
international education.
Mr Jones is a member of the Business Council of Australia and a fellow of the Australian Institute of
Company Directors. He is also a significant supporter of a number of charitable causes in Australia.
During the past three years, Mr Jones has not served as a director of any other listed companies.

TONY CIPA
BBus, Grad Dip Accounting
Non-Executive Director
Appointed 1 May 2014
Mr Cipa has extensive international business and finance experience including his roles as Chief Financial
Officer and Executive Finance Director for CSL Limited, the ASX listed international biopharmaceutical
company.
During his time leading the finance function of CSL the company grew from a previously government
owned business to a global market leader with over 20 international locations including the USA, UK,
Canada and Germany. Mr Cipa was CFO from 1994 to 2000 then served as Executive Finance Director
on CSL's Board of Directors from 2000 to 2010.
Mr Cipa is currently a Non-Executive Director of Healthscope Limited. He was previously the Chairman of
the Audit and Risk Committee and a Non-Executive Director of Skilled Group.
Through this executive and Board experience Mr Cipa is considered to have extensive experience in
executive leadership, financial analysis, risk management, strategy, corporate governance and
remuneration.
During the past three years Mr Cipa has served as a director of the following other listed companies:
• Healthscope Limited* (from 28 June 2014 to present)
• Skilled Group (from 4 April 2011 to 19 October 2015)
* Denotes current directorship

Mr Cipa is also the Chairman of the Board’s Audit and Risk Committee.
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HARVEY COLLINS
BBus, SFFin, FAICD
Non-Executive Director
Appointed as a Director since 9 November 2004 and Chairman from March 2006 until 16 November 2016.
Mr Collins has extensive executive and board experience in a range of industries. From 1986 to 1996 he
held senior executive roles in Western Australian regional bank, Challenge Bank Limited, including five
years as Chief Financial Officer. From 1997 to 2002, he was an Executive Director of listed investment
company, Chieftain Securities Limited.
From 2009 to 2012, he was the Non-Executive Chairman of Bank of Western Australia Limited
(Bankwest). From 2004 to 2013, he was a Non-Executive Director (Deputy Chairman) of Verve Energy
(Electricity Generation Corporation).
Mr Collins has held board appointments in industries as diverse as financial services, health insurance,
telecommunications, equipment hire, mining services, electricity and the not-for-profit sector. He is a
director of Save the Children Australia, Chairman of Insitor Impact Asia Fund Pte Ltd and is a past member
of the WA State Council of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.
Through this executive and Board experience Mr Collins is considered to have extensive experience in
executive leadership, financial analysis, risk management, strategy and corporate governance. In
addition, due to his tenure as Chairman of the Navitas Board, Mr Collins is considered to have significant
education experience.
During the past three years, Mr Collins has not served as a director of any other listed companies.
Mr Collins is also a member of the Board’s Audit and Risk Committee.

DIANA EILERT
BSc (Syd) MComm (UNSW)
Non-Executive Director
Appointed 28 July 2014
Ms Eilert is a professional Non-Executive Director with extensive board and executive experience gained
in a 30 year career across a variety of sectors.
Ms Eilert is currently a Non-Executive Director of Super Retail Group (ASX: SUL), Domain (ASX: DHG)
and Elders (ASX:ELD) and was previously a Non-Executive Director of digital business realestate.com.au
(ASX: REA), Veda Group Limited (ASX:VED), and digital start-ups such as “onthehouse” and OurDeal.
As an executive Ms Eilert has held operational roles as Group Executive for Suncorp’s entire insurance
business and later, Group Executive People, Technology, Marketing and Joint Ventures for Suncorp. She
had 10 years’ experience with Citibank running retail bank credit and risk, the mortgage business, the
retail funds management business, and the Direct Bank, reporting to the Country Head.
In her final executive role, Ms Eilert was Head of Strategy and Corporate Development for News Ltd,
where her focus was on digital transformation and emerging business models.
Through this executive and Board experience Ms Eilert is considered to have extensive experience in
executive leadership, financial analysis, risk management, strategy, corporate governance and
remuneration. In addition, due to her specialised experience in the digital and technology area at News
Ltd, IBM and Suncorp, Ms Eilert is considered to have significant Digital and Technology experience.
During the past three years Ms Eilert has served as a director of the following other listed companies:
•
Super Retail Group* (from 21 October 2015 to present)
•
Veda Group Limited (from 18 October 2013 to 26 February 2016)
•
Elders Limited* (from 14 November 2017 to present)
•
Domain Holdings Australia Limited* (from 15 November 2017 to present)
* Denotes current directorship.

Ms Eilert is also the Chairman of the Board’s People and Remuneration Committee.
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LISA PAUL AO PSM
BA (Hons), FAICD, FACEL, FAIM, FIPAA, FANZSOG
Non-Executive Director
Appointed 2 February 2016
Ms Paul has been a Chief Executive in the Australian federal government for 11 years, most recently as
the Secretary of the Australian Government Department of Education and Training.
In 2011, Ms Paul was made an Officer of the Order of Australia for distinguished service to public sector
leadership. In 2003, she was awarded a Public Service Medal for leading the Australian Government's
domestic response to the Bali bombings.
Ms Paul is a fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors, a fellow of the Australian Council for
Educational Leaders, National Fellow of the Institute of Public Administration Australia, a fellow of the
Australian Institute of Management, an Australian National University Public Policy Fellow, a member of
Chief Executive Women and a Fellow of the Australian and New Zealand School of Government.
Ms Paul currently serves on the boards of Social Ventures Australia, Australian Schools Plus, Australian
Research Alliance for Children and Youth, High Resolves and the Australia American Educational
Leadership Foundation Ltd. She was appointed to the Government’s Naval Shipbuilding Advisory Board
in January 2017. She was also formerly on the boards of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited
and APM Australia.
Ms Paul is Enterprise Professor, Public Policy at the University of Melbourne and is a Councillor of Bond
University.
Through this executive and Board experience Ms Paul is considered to have extensive experience in
executive leadership, financial analysis, risk management, strategy, corporate governance, remuneration
and the education sector. In addition, due to her experience in the Department of Education and Training,
Ms Paul is considered to have significant Digital and Technology experience.
During the past three years Ms Paul has served as a director of the following other listed company:
•
Programmed Maintenance Services Limited (from 3 February 2016 to 27 October 2017)
Ms Paul is also a member of the Board’s People and Remuneration Committee.

DAVID ROBB
BSc, GradDip (Personnel Administration), FAIM, FAICD
Non-Executive Director
Appointed 9 May 2017
Mr Robb has an extensive corporate background, most recently serving as Managing Director and CEO
of Iluka Resources (an ASX 100 company) for 10 years. As CEO, he transformed the company’s financial,
commercial and human capabilities and drove major achievements in shareholder returns and investment
market reputation, in workforce diversity and employee engagement and in corporate sustainability
practices.
Prior to that, Mr Robb held a number of senior executive positions at Wesfarmers, including Executive
Director, and senior roles at BP in Asia, the US, the UK and Australia.
Mr Robb is also currently a Director of the Melbourne Football Club, a Director of the WA Cricket
Foundation and Chair of the Dean’s Council of the Faculty of Engineering, Computing and Mathematics
at the University of Western Australia. He was previously Chairman of Consolidated Rutile Limited and
Deputy Chair of Methodist Ladies College, Perth.
Through this executive and Board experience Mr Robb is considered to have extensive experience in
executive leadership, financial analysis, risk management, strategy, corporate governance and
remuneration.
During the past three years Mr Robb has served as a director of the following other listed company:
• Iluka Resources Limited (from 18 October 2006 to 2 September 2016)
Mr Robb is also a member of the Board’s Audit and Risk Committee.
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Remuneration Report
This Report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for the key management personnel (KMP)
of Navitas Limited. The KMP are the Group Chief Executive Officer and certain Navitas senior executives,
together referred to in this Report as ‘executives’, and the non-executive directors. The disclosures are in
accordance with the requirements set out in section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).
The Report comprises the following sub sections:
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Frequently Asked Questions

This section provides an overview of the key questions Navitas’ shareholders may have in relation to
KMP remuneration arrangements.
Remuneration policy
How are executives at
Navitas remunerated?

How is fixed remuneration
determined?

Navitas executives are remunerated in two parts:
1)

Fixed remuneration, which is used to attract and retain
executives with the talent and skills to support the Group’s
objectives; and

2)

Variable remuneration, which is paid utilising an executive
incentive plan, based on Group, business unit and individual
performance.

Fixed remuneration for each role is set by the Board through the People
and Remuneration Committee (PRC) and is based on comparable roles
in like companies.
Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually based on individual and Group
performance as well as market data. Navitas aims to pay at the 50th
percentile of fixed remuneration levels for comparable roles and
organisations.

How are variable payments
for individual executives
set?

A percentage of each executives’ fixed remuneration is set as Target
Variable Pay (TVP). This ranges from 60% to 75% of fixed pay for
executives depending on the executive’s role and level of responsibility,
and 150% of fixed pay for the CEO.
Fixed and variable remuneration are set to provide a market competitive
total remuneration package.
The policy for this is specified in Navitas’ executive incentive plan.

2

How are incentives
determined for executives
working in Group or
business unit roles?

Growth targets for the Group and each business unit are set, with Group
executives tied to the Group Economic Value Added (EVA® 2) result and
business unit executives tied to their business unit and Group EVA®
results.

How are incentive
payments funded?

Incentive payments are funded based on the year-on-year growth in
EVA® achieved by the Group or business unit against pre-established
targets set by the Board.

EVA® is a registered trademark of Stern Stewart & Co.
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How is the executive
incentive plan pool
determined?

The incentive pool is based on the combined TVP of participants and
how well the Group and its business units performed against the EVA®
growth targets set by the Board.
If targets are exactly met, the incentive plan pool will be equal to the
combined TVP of participants. If targets are not achieved, the pool will
be lower, if targets are exceeded, the pool will be higher. The size of the
pool is uncapped for achievement above the target.

What growth targets are
used to determine the
incentive pool?

Growth targets are set by the Board for a three-year period, with the
three-year target broken down into annual growth targets. Incentive
funding is determined each year based on EVA® growth achieved
against those annual targets.
We do not disclose the growth targets set by the Board as they are
commercially sensitive.
In setting the target for FY18 - FY20, the Board gave consideration to
Group plans, shareholder return expectations, industry developments,
as well as comparative performance analysis prepared by independent
consultancy Juno Partners of the top 300 Australian listed companies,
excluding investment, mining and utility companies over the five years
to June 2016.

What is EVA® and how is
it calculated?

The executive incentive plan is based on sustained improvements in the
financial performance of Navitas, as measured by EVA®. EVA®
measures the profit Navitas makes above and beyond what investors
could expect to earn, had their funds been invested elsewhere at similar
risk. For EVA® calculations see page 39.

How are financial
outcomes weighted
between Group and
business unit
performance?

Executives working in Group roles have incentive outcomes based
100% on Group financial performance.

How are incentive
payments and the EVA®
pool linked?

While the combined TVP of participants and financial performance
against pre-set targets determines the maximum size of the pool, the
share of that pool that the executive receives is subject to an
assessment of their individual performance.

How are financial
performance and individual
performance linked?

Incentive payments are based on a combination of financial (60%) and
personal (40%) objective outcomes.

Executives working in business unit roles have their incentive outcomes
based 50% on business unit performance, and 50% on Group
performance. This weighting split encourages collaboration between
executives to improve overall Company performance.

If executives do not meet their personal objectives, or do not perform as
well as others, their incentive payment will vary. An executive’s share of
the incentive pool will only be rewarded in full for exceptional individual
performance.
If the financial EVA target for an executive’s business unit is not
achieved then no incentive is payable (regardless of an executive’s
performance against their personal objectives). Payments are assessed
against previously agreed objectives and then approved by Board.
What are personal
performance objectives?

Personal performance objectives allow for greater emphasis to be
placed on non-financial performance.
Objectives are established and performance assessed in the context of
student outcomes, Group plans, shareholder return expectations and
industry developments amongst other things. This approach recognises
the importance of strategic non-financial initiatives to the Group’s long
term success.
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Does the 40% weighting of
personal objectives mean
the incentive pool available
has increased?

No. The funding of the incentive pool has not changed, i.e. rewards are
subject, at first instance, to financial performance against the pre-set
financial targets determined by the Board.
If an executive is assessed not to have reached acceptable levels of
individual performance, they are not eligible for any variable rewards
(even if financial EVA targets have been achieved).

Can incentives be deferred
or forfeited?

For executives, rewards are uncapped and any amount, positive or
negative, may be declared. Amounts between zero ($0) and an
executive’s TVP opportunity are settled in the current year.
Any amount over the executive’s TVP or below zero is settled in three
equal parts - the first in the current year and the remainder in the two
years that follow.

What happens if EVA®
growth declines?

If EVA® growth is substantially below target, a negative incentive is
declared reducing the value of any previously deferred incentives and
any future incentives under the plan.

What happens to the
deferred amount if an
executive ceases
employment?

An executive must be in employment at the time the Board approves the
incentive payment made under the executive incentive plan to be eligible
for the payment.
Where an executive ceases employment before the end of any deferral
period, the deferred amount is treated as follows:
i.

If an executive voluntarily resigns from the Company or if they
are dismissed for cause, e.g. misconduct, then they are
ineligible to receive any deferred amounts.

ii.

In all other circumstances, e.g., redundancy, death,
incapacitation due to illness or injury, or retirement from
fulltime employment, any deferred amount due to the
executive remains on foot until such time as the amount falls
due. At that time, a pro rata payment of the amount will be
made, based on the length of employment service during the
deferral period.

The Board retains discretion to determine treatment of some or all
terminating executive’s deferred incentives.
Do executives have to
maintain a Navitas
shareholding?

Executives have to allocate at least 50% of any post-tax incentive
payment to purchase shares until the executive has established a
holding in Navitas equal to the value of their fixed remuneration.
Please refer to changes to the incentive plan for FY19 on page 37 for
an update to this policy effective 1 July 2018.

New CEO remuneration details
What are the
Mr. David Buckingham became Group CEO on 1 March 2018.
remuneration details for
the new CEO?
Fixed
Variable
Notice period
Termination
remuneration
remuneration
period for
(Note any incentive
material
payment is subject to
change
both financial and
$1.0m
150% of fixed
6 months by
1 month by
personal performance
remuneration
Navitas or Mr.
Mr.
and not guaranteed)
based on
Buckingham
Buckingham.
EVA®
A separation
performance
payment in
and meeting
these
other KPIs.
circumstances
will be made
of 12 months
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FY18 outcomes
What are the
remuneration outcomes
for FY18?

Fixed remuneration
Executives, did not receive a fixed remuneration increase in FY18.
Variable remuneration
The Group financial performance did not meet minimum EVA®
achievement expectations and an incentive declaration of 0.03x is
expected for Group executives, including the Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer.
For business unit executives the expected range of incentive declarations
across executives is from 0.03x to 0.47x, depending on the EVA® created
by each business unit.
This is consistent with the objective of the plan, which is to base variable
rewards on sustained growth in EVA® being achieved.

Changes to the remuneration policy for FY19
Are there any changes to
fixed remuneration for
FY19?

Fixed remuneration for executives will be reviewed taking into account
remuneration market data for comparable roles in like companies.
Outcomes will be reported in the FY19 Remuneration Report.

Are there any changes to
variable remuneration
opportunity for FY19?
Are there any changes to
the incentive plan?

Following an increase in the TVP opportunity for executives in FY18, as
detailed in last year’s Remuneration Report, there are no changes
planned for executive’s TVP opportunity in FY19.
Changes to incentive plan elements
Beginning in FY19 the following incentive plan elements will be
introduced:
•

•
•

One-third of an executive’s annual incentive payment, up to
their TVP, will be deferred pre-tax into rights to acquire Navitas
equity;
Vesting of these rights will be deferred for 3 years, subject to
continuing employment (or good leaver status);
At vesting, a top up will be provided to recognise dividends
foregone during the vesting period.

The introduction of rights, with vesting deferred for 3 years, will further
align executives with shareholders by:
•
providing a simple mechanism that is consistent across all
countries;
•
increasing executives’ Navitas equity participation;
•
confirming a Navitas equity shareholding retention
mechanism;
•
improving alignment with market practice and emerging
trends in executive remuneration policies; and
•
ensure Navitas’ ability to retain key talent.
The changes to the incentive plan will also align executives’ rewards
more closely with the Company’s strategic objectives by rewarding
both group financial and individual performance.
Shareholder approval
Following the introduction of rights for the incentive plan, shareholder
approval will be sought at the FY18 Annual General Meeting for a
proposed grant of rights to Navitas’ Managing Director & Chief
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Executive Officer. The terms and calculation methodology for the grant
of rights will be disclosed in the FY18 Notice of Meeting.
Change to executives’ minimum shareholding requirement
Beginning in FY19 executives are encouraged to hold Navitas
securities as follows:
Value of securities

Time period to
acquire securities

CEO

100% of fixed remuneration

3 years

Executive

50% of fixed remuneration

5 years

To meet the minimum shareholding requirement any Navitas
securities, including rights granted under the incentive plan, are
counted when considering whether an executive has met the guideline.
Are there any other
changes?

2.

The Board continues to review executive remuneration and will provide
details of any changes that are made in future Remuneration Reports.

Key Management Personnel (KMP)

The following were KMP at any time during the 2018 financial year and, unless otherwise indicated, were
KMP for the entire year.
(i)

Non-Executive Directors

Tracey Horton
Tony Cipa
Harvey Collins
Diana Eilert
James King
Lisa Paul
David Robb

Non-Executive Chairman
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director (retired 15 November 2017)
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director

(ii) Executive Director
Rod Jones
Rod Jones

Group Chief Executive Officer (resigned 28 February 2018)
Managing Director (resigned 30 June 2018 becoming a Non-Executive Director)

(iii) Executives
Patrick Brothers
David Buckingham
David Buckingham
Mick Campbell
Bev Hudson
Scott Jones
Rob Lourey
Paul Lovegrove
Philip Mirams
Iain Rothwell
John Wood

Chief Development Officer (resigned 18 May 2018)
Group Chief Executive Officer (appointed 1 March 2018)
Chief Financial Officer (until 28 February 2018)
Chief Information Officer
Chief Executive Officer – University Partnerships North America
Chief Executive Officer – Careers & Industry
Group General Manager - Human Resources
Chief Executive Officer – University Partnerships Europe
Chief Financial Officer (appointed 4 June 2018)
Chief Commercial Officer (KMP effective from 21 March 2018)
Chief Executive Officer – University Partnerships Australasia (resigned 30 June
2018)
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3.

FY18 remuneration outcomes and link with performance

The Group financial performance did not meet minimum EVA® achievement expectations and an
incentive declaration of 0.03x is expected for Group executives, including the Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer.
For business unit executives the expected range of incentive declarations across executives is from minus
0.03x to 0.47x, depending on the EVA® created by each business unit.
Any negative incentive declarations are settled over three years, reducing the value of previously deferred
amounts and the value of future declarations.
The lower rewards declared in FY18 reflect the Group’s financial profit performance which was impacted
by a number of factors including charges from the rationalisation of the Careers and Industry Division, the
final impact of the closure of Macquarie and Curtin Sydney Colleges, reduced AMEP contract regions and
changes to VET funding rules in Australia.
These declared incentive amounts are consistent with the objective of the plan, which is to base variable
rewards on sustained growth in EVA® being achieved.
Final incentive payments are subject to Board determination in September 2018.
Economic Value Added (EVA®) calculation
The below table outlines how the FY18 EVA outcome was calculated, and compares to FY17.

+
=
=

EBITDA # (note 1)
Interest
Depreciation
Net Operating Profit Before Tax
Taxes at 30%
Net Operating Profit After Tax (A)

2018
$000s
142,078
1,287
(31,450)
111,915
(33,575)
78,340

x

Capital Employed*
Cost of Capital

496,222
8%

469,882
8%

=

Capital charge (B)

39,698

37,591

Economic Value Added (EVA)

38,642

49,545

Opening EVA

49,545

60,286

(10,903)

(10,741)

A-B

EVA decrease

2017
$000s
155,048
1,691
(32,259)
124,480
(37,344)
87,136

# non-operating profits and losses are excluded from the EVA calculation
* based on the average of month end net debt and equity balances throughout the year, after adjustments.

Note 1: as at 30 June 2018 the Group recorded significant one off expenses of $123.8m related to the
C&I Division. Under the principles of the EVA calculation these one off expenses are not deducted from
Net profit for EVA purposes so that future EVA creation is not distorted by the absence of these one off
expenses. However, the capital employed includes a permanent capital allocation of $123.8m for these
expenses so that future EVA creation must recover the historic capital invested.
Cash bonuses for participants have been provided for in the financial statements for 30 June 2018, but
as noted above, are subject to review and confirmation by the Board in September 2018.
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FY09-FY18 Navitas financial performance and alignment to remuneration outcomes
The following table outlines Navitas’ performance on key metric of value creation for the past 10 years.
(12 months ended 30 June)

2018

2017

2016

2015

2014

2013

2012

2011

2010

2009

Economic Value Added (EVA) ($m)

38.64

49.55

60.29

62.86

51.78

46.10

38.12

57.88

54.53

40.64

17.4

19.5

19.5

19.5

19.5

19.5

19.5

20.7

18.8

14.3

69.8

70.4

74.1

73.3

72.8

72.8

80.3

68.7

57.8

40.1

Closing share price (at 30 June)

$4.44

$4.85

$5.49

$4.29

$7.13

$5.77

$4.34

$4.03

$4.66

$2.73

(Loss)/Earnings per share (cents)
Earnings per share before amortisation and
impairment (cents)
Net profit/(loss) after tax attributable to
members of the Company ($m)
Return on capital employed*

(15.6)

22.1

24.0

19.1

13.7

19.9

19.5

21.7

18.8

14.3

21.2

22.2

24.2

24.5

22.1

20.0

19.8

22.9

19.4

14.6

(55.85)
15%

80.34
18%

90.08
22%

71.81
23%

51.58
20%

74.58
19%

73.15
19%

77.30
50%

64.20
59%

49.20
47%

Dividends per share - paid and proposed
(cents)
Dividends paid ($m)

* excluding the significant one off C&I Division expenses recognised at 30 June 2018
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4.

Executive remuneration objective, structure and review

Navitas’ remuneration objective is to provide competitive rewards to attract high calibre executives that
can drive the continued strong performance of the business. At the heart of the Group’s approach is:
•
•

an executive incentive plan structured to align the interests of executives with those of the
Company’s shareholders; and
the establishment of appropriate performance benchmarks that link both fixed and variable
remuneration with Group strategy, the strategy of individual business units and goals set for each
executive’s individual performance.

Alignment of executive and shareholder interests
Captures all at-risk pay
Executives are assigned a level of Target Variable Pay (TVP) which is based on a percentage of their
fixed remuneration. In FY18, this varied from 60% to 150% of fixed pay, depending on the seniority of the
executive. The executive incentive plan comprises the entire at-risk opportunity offered to executives.
Based on shareholder value
The executive incentive plan is based on sustained improvements in the financial performance of the
Group and its business units, as measured by EVA®.
EVA® measures the profit the business makes above the Group’s current cost of capital of 8%. As such,
it is the value created by the business for shareholders.
EVA® is more demanding than other profit measures such as EPS or EBITDA as it requires a reasonable
return on equity to be achieved before EVA® becomes positive. Research by independent consultancy
Juno Partners shows that only about 50% of the top 300 Australian listed businesses generate positive
EVA® in any one year 3.
The Board sets the required return for investors used to calculate EVA® annually and may make
amendments to the statutory profit to calculate EVA® without affecting the underlying integrity of the plan.
Linked with Navitas’ financial performance
Every three years, the Board sets growth targets for the Group and each key business unit. In setting the
target for FY18 - FY20, the Board gave consideration to Group plans, shareholder return expectations,
industry developments, as well as comparative performance analysis prepared by independent
consultancy Juno Partners of the top 300 Australian listed companies excluding investment, mining and
utility companies over the five years to June 2016.
At the end of each year, after consideration of the EVA® growth achieved against targets, an incentive
multiple is determined. This is applied to the executive’s TVP and amended for individual performance to
determine the incentive declared for the executive.
Incentive formula
The Board also gives consideration to the levels of performance that would justify extreme rewards, both
on the upside and on the downside, while ensuring the payoff in either direction is symmetrical.
The diagram below illustrates the working of the incentive formula as it applies to executives.

3

Excluding investment companies, as determined by Juno Partners, an independent consultancy appointed by the
Board.
42

Remuneration Report (continued)

Rewards above TVP are deferred and can be forfeited if not sustained
For executives, rewards are uncapped and any amount, positive or negative, may be declared. Amounts
between $0 and the executive’s TVP are settled in the current year. Any amount outside this range is
settled in three equal parts:
•
•

the first in the current year; and
the remainder in the two years that follow.

Deferred amounts can be lost if the executive’s participation in the scheme ends for whatever reason, or
if future EVA® growth falls substantially below target.
Any deferred amounts do not vest with the executive and are not paid on the termination of their
employment.
Incentive declarations can be negative
If EVA® growth falls substantially below target, executives can suffer a negative incentive declaration.
Negative incentive declarations are settled over three years, reducing the value of previously deferred
amounts and the value of future declarations.
Subject to additional requirements
Total payments to executives participating in the plan must be approved by the Board each year.
To further strengthen the link between executive performance and shareholder return, executives are
required (over time) to acquire a beneficial interest in shares in the Company equal to the value of their
fixed remuneration. Executives have to allocate at least 50% of any post-tax incentive payment, up to and
including a one times EVA® multiple, to purchase shares in the Company. Ordinary shares are issued at
a price calculated as a volume weighted average market price for the five trading days immediately before
the date of issue.
This requirement results in all executives acquiring a meaningful exposure to the performance of Navitas
shares, funded out of the proceeds of their incentive payments.
Please refer to changes to the incentive plan for FY19 on page 37 for an update to this policy, effective 1
July 2018.
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Focused on sustained, multi-year performance
While payments under the executive incentive plan are made in cash and classified under the accounting
standards as 'short-term benefits', there are several elements in the plan that enable rewards to reflect
sustained, multi-year performance, including:
•
•
•
•

payments reflecting performance against a set of three year targets;
two thirds of payments for above target performance are deferred;
deferred payments are subject to loss if performance deteriorates significantly or the executive
ceases to be a participant in the plan(subject to cessation reason); and
at least 50% of any payment, up to and including a one times EVA® multiple, must be used to
purchase shares until the executive has established a holding in Navitas equal to the value of
their fixed remuneration. Please refer to changes to the incentive plan for FY19 on page 37 for
an update to this policy, effective 1 July 2018.

Link with business strategy
A significant portion of executive remuneration is ‘at risk’, with payment determined annually through the
Company’s executive incentive plan based on the achievement of pre-determined Group, business unit
and individual targets. These targets link directly with Navitas’ business strategy.
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Remuneration structure
An outline of our executive remuneration structure, determination and purpose is below.

Remuneration review
The PRC reviews the level and composition of executive remuneration each year, benchmarking against
the Group’s peers. The proportion of fixed and variable remuneration for each executive is set by the PRC
or the Group Chief Executive Officer. The on target remuneration mix for FY18 is set out below.
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5. Executive statutory remuneration tables
The remuneration reported below is in accordance with both statutory requirements under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and Australian accounting standards.
Year ended 30 June
Post2018 ($)
Short term benefits
employment
Other long
Performance
Salary & Fees Cash bonus
Non-monetary
term benefits
Total
related %
benefits
Superannuation
(i)
(ii)
Executive Director (iv)
Rod Jones (1)
1,685,377
6,000
23,649
1,715,026
Other Key Management Personnel (iv)
Patrick Brothers (2)
611,325
20,049
631,374
David Buckingham (3)
702,947
15,024
23,365
20,003
761,339
Mick Campbell
350,960
11,492
20,049
8,528
391,029
Bev Hudson ^
393,791
175,886
2,431
18,223
590,331
30%
Scott Jones
529,951
9,656
20,049
12,681
572,337
2%
Rob Lourey
418,003
23,249
10,375
451,627
Paul Lovegrove *
286,869
38,715
63,749
389,333
10%
Philip Mirams (4)
53,964
1,408
5,012
119
60,503
2%
Iain Rothwell (5)
113,332
5,655
5,012
2,737
126,736
4%
John Wood (6)
1,032,953
35,657
58,349
1,126,959
3%

2017 ($)
Executive Director (iv)
Rod Jones
Other Key Management Personnel (iv)
Patrick Brothers
David Buckingham
Mick Campbell (7)
Bev Hudson ^
Scott Jones @
Rob Lourey
Paul Lovegrove *
John Wood

Balance of
Deferred Cash
Bonuses (iii)

(64,107)
(37,918)
(820)
(30,413)
(40,227)
-

6,179,472

266,977

34,947

280,755

54,443

6,816,594

4%

(173,485)

1,004,450

90,776

6,000

35,000

22,841

1,159,067

8%

(195,557)

589,384
566,227
348,785
385,551
535,772
411,054
276,701
480,309

21,951
14,809
254,490
183,823
15,887
18,696
15,305

23,158
8,164
2,378
-

19,616
19,616
19,616
21,841
14,712
28,112
61,434
42,416

14,912
13,518
8,595
12,703
11,890
15,121

645,863
637,328
385,160
664,260
747,010
466,943
356,831
553,151

3%
2%
38%
25%
3%
5%
3%

(83,661)
(91,350)
(45,675)
(1,639)
(39,361)
(80,454)
19,785

4,598,233

615,737

39,700

262,363

99,580

5,615,613

11%

(517,912)

For notes (i) through (iv), and notes (1) to (7) see page 47.
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(1) Resigned as Group Chief Executive Officer on 28 February 2018 and resigned as Managing
Director on 30 June 2018. Salary & fees includes the payment of accrued leave balances of
$664,426.
(2) Resigned on 18 May 2018. Salary & fees includes the payment of accrued leave balances of
$88,006.
(3) Appointed Group Chief Executive Officer on 1 March 2018.
(4) Appointed on 4 June 2018.
(5) KMP effective from 21 March 2018.
(6) Resigned on 30 June 2018. Salary & fees includes a termination payment of $541,001 (including
accrued leave balances of $172,026) and superannuation includes a termination payment of
$25,000.
(7) Non-monetary benefits in 2017 adjusted for an overpayment of $65,550.
^ Remuneration is settled in Canadian Dollars. For the year ended 30 June 2018, an average exchange
rate of CAD0.98428/AUD has been used to translate the remuneration into Australian Dollars.
@ Remuneration for the period to October 2016 was settled in Great British Pounds.
* Remuneration is settled in Great British Pounds. For the year ended 30 June 2018, an average exchange
rate of GBP0.57601/AUD has been used to translate the remuneration into Australian Dollars.
(i) Cash bonus comprises the annual incentive (executive incentive plan) payments payable in September
of each financial year after review and confirmation by the Board. Under the terms of the plan payments
will only be made if the participant is an employee at the date of payment. The cash bonus includes the
amount provided as payable in relation to the 2018 financial year, adjusted for the difference between the
amount provided for in the 2017 financial year and the actual amount paid in October 2017.
(ii) Other long term benefits include movements in Long Service Leave.
(iii) Deferred Cash Bonuses are the balances for executives who hold a position as KMP at 30 June, and
who are participants in the executive incentive plan. As noted on page 39 of the Directors’ Report, for
some participants in the executive incentive plan, rewards outside of the range of zero ($0) to the
participant’s Target Variable Pay (1x target) are settled in three equal parts, the first in the current year
and the remainder in the two years that follow. The Balance of Deferred Cash Bonuses is the total of these
deferred amounts. It does not vest with the executive. The executive is not entitled to any portion of the
Balance of Deferred Cash Bonuses upon termination. The Board may use its discretion to continue the
vesting in some circumstances.
For the purposes of the Remuneration Report the Balance of Deferred Cash Bonuses does not form part
of remuneration for the year, due to not being guaranteed and subject to clawback.
A negative balance of deferred cash bonuses represents when EVA® growth falls substantially below
target and executives can have received a negative incentive declaration. Negative incentive declarations
are settled over three years, reducing the value of previously deferred amounts and the value of future
declarations.
(iv) For these executives, at least 50% of the incentive payment will be used to pay for ordinary shares in
the Company (at an issue price calculated as a volume weighted average market price for the 5 trading
days immediately before the date of issue) until such executives hold a beneficial interest in shares in the
Company equal to the value of their fixed remuneration. This requirement will be determined based on
shareholdings in the Company as disclosed by these executives in August of each financial year. It is
therefore not currently possible to quantify the component of the cash bonus that will be used to buy
ordinary shares in the Company.
Executive employment contracts
Remuneration and other terms of employment for the executives are formalised in employment contracts.
A summary of the key employment contract terms for each executive is provided below. All executives’
employment contracts are for an unlimited duration.
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None of the non-executive directors have an employment contract with the Company.

Executive

By Executive

Notice period1
By Navitas
Termination for
Material Change

David Buckingham2
Mick Campbell
Bev Hudson
Scott Jones2, 3

6 months
3 months
3 months
3 months

6 months
3 months
3 months
3 months

Rob Lourey
Paul Lovegrove4
Philip Mirams
Iain Rothwell

3 months
3 months
3 months
3 months

3 months
3 months
3 months
3 months

1.
2.

3.
4.

1 month by Executive

6 months by Company; 2
months by Executive

Instead of giving the notice set out in the table above, the Company may terminate by paying
remuneration equivalent to the notice period.
Material Change is defined as there being a material diminution in the executive’s responsibilities,
or the executive is required to relocate outside their home state, or where a third party acquires a
controlling interest in the Company.
Where the executive’s contract terminates as a result of a material change, they will be entitled to a
payment equivalent to three months fixed remuneration.
The 3 month notice period by the Company applies during the first five years of employment
(employment commenced 20 July 2015).

Resignation of the CEO
On 12 October 2017 Navitas announced that its founding CEO and Managing Director, Rod Jones, was
to step down from both roles by March and June 2018, respectively.
While arrangements as to Mr. Jones’s entitlements on cessation of employment are to be finalised, in light
of his strong leadership and performance over his tenure as CEO, the Board’s current intention is that he
will be treated as a ‘good leaver’ under the incentive plan, such that Mr. Jones will be eligible to receive a
pro rata payment of his incentive for 2018 based upon 100% of his incentive opportunity.
As Mr. Jones has completed over 20 years of employment with the Company, under his Executive Service
Agreement he is entitled to payment for unused long service leave entitlements calculated in accordance
with the Long Service Leave Act 1958 (WA).
Following Mr. Jones cessation as Managing Director on 30 June 2018 (when that responsibility transferred
to Mr. Buckingham), Mr. Jones was appointed by the Board as a non-executive director, effective 1 July
2018. The Board granted a leave of absence to Mr Jones from attending Board meetings until December
2018.
6. Non-executive director fees and statutory remuneration table
Fee pool
The maximum aggregate fee pool approved by shareholders at the 2013 AGM for non-executive
directors is $1,100,000 per annum (inclusive of superannuation). The aggregate fee pool is generally
reviewed by the Board annually and, if appropriate, adjusted, having regard to the anticipated time
commitment, workload and responsibilities attaching to that office and having regard to the level of fees
paid by comparable organisations in the market. The fee pool did not increase in FY18 and the total
amount of directors’ fees paid were $980,897.
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Fee policy
Board / Committee

Chair fee
$

Member fee
$

Board base fee

270,000

126,000

Audit and risk

14,000

nil

People and remuneration

14,000

nil

Note, there will be no increase in non-executive directors’ fees in FY19.

The above fees are inclusive of superannuation.
Non-executive directors receive a base fee for their services as a director of the Board, including their
membership of committees. Chairing a Committee attracts a higher fee rate. The Chairman of the Board
receives a higher base fee in recognition of the additional responsibility and time commitment, however
does not receive any extra remuneration for participating in or chairing any Committees.
In setting the non-executive directors’ fees, the following considerations are taken into account to enable
the Board to attract and retain directors:
> time commitment;
> workload;
> risk and responsibility;
> individual background, skills and experience; and
> market benchmark data, sourced from companies with a similar market capitalisation.
In order to maintain independence, non-executive directors do not receive performance-related
remuneration and do not participate in the executive incentive plan. This allows the focus of the Board to
be on the governance of the strategic direction of Navitas.
Aggregate fee pool increase in FY19
In FY19 it is proposed to seek shareholder approval to increase the cap on the aggregate remuneration
of non-executive directors by $250,000 from $1,100,000 per year to $1,350,000 per year. This will be the
first increase in fees requested since 2013.
The new cap of $1,350,000, contains an allowance to accommodate fees for additional non-executive
directors to assist in Board succession. The intention is that new directors will be appointed to the Board
prior to the retirement of existing directors to allow time for an orderly transfer of responsibilities.

49

Remuneration Report (continued)
Year ended 30 June
2018

Short term benefits
Salary & Fees ($)

Post-employment
Superannuation ($)

Total ($)

250,348
127,854
115,068
127,854
52,500
115,068
115,068

20,049
12,146
10,932
12,146
10,932
10,932

270,397
140,000
126,000
140,000
52,500
126,000
126,000

903,760

77,137

980,897

204,436
127,854
153,915
123,059
126,000
115,068
16,677

17,439
12,146
26,258
11,691
10,932
1,584

221,875
140,000
180,173
134,750
126,000
126,000
18,261

867,009

80,050

947,059

Tracey Horton
Tony Cipa
Harvey Collins
Diana Eilert
James King (1)
Lisa Paul
David Robb

2017
Tracey Horton (2)
Tony Cipa
Harvey Collins (3)
Diana Eilert
James King
Lisa Paul
David Robb (4)

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Retired 15 November 2017
Appointed as Chairman 16 November 2016
Chairman until 16 November 2016
Appointed 9 May 2017

7.

Remuneration governance

People and Remuneration Committee (PRC)
The PRC is responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration philosophy, framework and policies
for directors, Group Chief Executive Officer (Group CEO) and executives, for Board approval. The PRC
works closely with the Audit and Risk Committee and maintains an overall Group view to consider risk
and reputational matters in the determination of remuneration outcomes.
The PRC assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration of directors and
executives on an annual basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions. The overall
objective is to maintain maximum shareholder benefit from the retention of a high-quality Board and
executive team.
Use of remuneration consultants
During FY18, the PRC engaged Ernst & Young (EY) and Juno Partners to provide advice on remuneration
matters.
A remuneration recommendation, as defined in the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), was provided by Juno
Partners in relation to the Navitas incentive program used throughout the Group. The recommendation
provided covered the targets to be used to determine rewards at the business unit level for the 2018–
2020 financial years.
The Juno Partners engagement involved making a remuneration recommendation to the PRC that
affected KMP. The consideration payable for this engagement was $21,825, excluding GST.
When remuneration consultants are engaged by the Board, it has put in place procedures to ensure
remuneration recommendations made by remuneration consultants are free from undue influence by
those KMP to whom the recommendation relates. These procedures include:
•
•
•

instructions for preparing remuneration recommendations are only issued to remuneration
consultants by the Chairman of the PRC or another non-executive director;
the role of executives in any engagement regarding a remuneration recommendation is limited
to the provision of information and opinions on current and past practices and does not include
any participation in the development of recommendations;
remuneration recommendations by remuneration consultants are made directly to the PRC; and
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•

all remuneration recommendations made by remuneration consultants are required to include a
declaration about whether the remuneration recommendation is free from undue influence by the
members of the KMP.

With respect to remuneration recommendation made during the year and disclosed above, the procedures
outlined above were adhered to and hence the Board is satisfied that the remuneration recommendations
made were free of undue influence by the KMP to whom the recommendations related.
8.

Additional required disclosures

Remuneration and shareholdings of directors and other key management personnel
The aggregate remuneration made to key management personnel of the Company and the Group is set
out below:
2018
2017
Year ended 30 June
$000s
$000s
Short term benefits
Post employment benefits
Other long term benefits

7,385
358
54

6,121
342
100

7,797

6,563

The detailed remuneration of each member of key management personnel of the Company is set out on
page 46.
Shareholdings of key management personnel
The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares in Navitas Limited held,
directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each KMP, including their related parties, is as follows:
(i)

Directors

Tracey Horton
Rod Jones
Tony Cipa
Harvey Collins
Diana Eilert
James King (1)^
Lisa Paul
David Robb (2)*

(1)
(2)
^
*

Balance at
1 July 2016

Additions*

Disposals

Balance at
30 June 2017

Additions

Disposals^

Balance at
30 June 2018

6,000
46,677,995
10,000
43,948
50,000
-

7,000
10,000
6,500
6,500
20,000

-

13,000
46,677,995
20,000
43,948
6,500
50,000
6,500
20,000

5,000
-

(50,000)
-

18,000
46,677,995
20,000
43,948
6,500
6,500
20,000

46,787,943

50,000

-

46,837,943

5,000

(50,000)

46,792,943

Retired 15 November 2017
Appointed 9 May 2017
Shares held at date of retirement recorded as a disposal in above table.
Shares held at date of appointment recorded as an addition in above table.

51

Remuneration Report (continued)
(ii)

Executives

Patrick Brothers (3)^
David Buckingham
Mick Campbell
Bev Hudson
Scott Jones
Rob Lourey
Paul Lovegrove
Philip Mirams (4)
Iain Rothwell (5)*
John Wood (6)^

(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
^
*

Balance at
1 July 2016

Additions

Disposals

Balance at
30 June 2017

Additions*

Disposals^

Balance at
30 June 2018

6,973
21,550
2,210,136
20,098
122,321

4,526
2,218
4,063
-

(10,000)
-

11,499
23,768
2,200,136
24,161
122,321

5,125
10,000
50,554
-

(11,499)
(60,000)
(122,321)

23,768
5,125
2,150,136
24,161
50,554
-

2,381,078

10,807

(10,000)

2,381,885

65,679

(193,820)

2,253,744

Resigned 18 May 2018
Appointed 4 June 2018
Key management person from 21 March 2018
Resigned 30 June 2018
Shares held at date of resignation recorded as a disposal in above table.
Shares held at date of appointment recorded as an addition in above table.

Interests in the shares and options of the Company and related bodies corporate
As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in the shares and options of Navitas Limited
were:
Directors
Tracey Horton
David Buckingham (7)
Tony Cipa
Harvey Collins
Diana Eilert
Rod Jones
Lisa Paul
David Robb

Ordinary shares held
18,000
23,768
20,000
43,948
6,500
46,677,995
6,500
20,000

(7) Appointed Managing Director 1 July 2018
Navitas Limited has no outstanding options at the date of this report.
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Directors’ meetings
The number of meetings of Directors (including meetings of committees of Directors) held during the
year, and the number of meetings attended by each Director, were as follows:
Directors’ meetings
Number of meetings
held while
attended
a director

Tracey Horton
Rod Jones
Tony Cipa
Harvey Collins
Diana Eilert
James King*
Lisa Paul
David Robb

11
11
11
11
11
5
11
11

11
11
10
11
11
5
10
10^

Meetings of Committees
Audit and Risk
People and Remuneration
Number of meetings
Number of meetings
held while a
attended
held while a
attended
committee
committee
member
member
5
5
1
4

5
5
1
4

5
5
2
5
-

5
5
2
5
-

* Retired from Board 15 November 2017
^ Prior to his appointment to the Board, David Robb notifed the Chairman of a pre-existing commitment
that meant he was unable to attend a scheduled meeting.
All Directors were eligible to attend all meetings held, unless specified.
Committee membership
Throughout the year and as at the date of this report, the Company had an Audit and Risk Committee
and a People and Remuneration Committee.
Members acting on the committees of the board during the year were:
Audit and Risk

People and Remuneration

Tony Cipa (Chairman)
Harvey Collins
James King (retired 15 November 2017)
David Robb (appointed 31 July 2017)

Diana Eilert (Chairman)
Tracey Horton
James King (retired 15 November 2017)
Lisa Paul

Indemnification and insurance of directors and officers
The Company’s constitution requires the Company to indemnify each officer of the Company and its
wholly owned subsidiaries against any liability (to the extent the Company is not precluded by law from
doing so) incurred by the officer in their capacity as an officer of the Company or its wholly owned
subsidiaries. The Company has also entered into deeds of access, indemnity and insurance with each of
its Directors, company secretaries, certain senior executives, and employees serving as officers on wholly
owned or partly owned companies of Navitas that require the Company to indemnify those Directors,
officers or employees against any liability (again to the extent the Company is not precluded by law from
doing so) incurred by them in their capacity as a director or officer of the Company or the relevant
subsidiary or partly owned company.
The Company has paid premiums of $238,063 in respect of contracts insuring each Director, officer,
company secretary and certain senior executives and employees serving as officers on wholly owned or
partly owned companies of Navitas against liability incurred in that capacity. Disclosure of the nature of
the liability covered by and certain other premiums payable for such insurance is prohibited by
confidentiality clauses in the contracts of insurance.
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Company secretaries
Hugh Hangchi, LLB, BComm
Company Secretary & Group General Counsel
Appointed 27 April 2005
Mr Hangchi is a practising lawyer and has experience in providing advice to directors of listed and unlisted
public companies in relation to directors’ duties, the Corporations Act, the Listing Rules and corporate
governance. He has also completed the Company Directors Course Diploma.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr Hangchi was a senior associate at a national law firm where he
specialised in capital raisings, mergers and acquisitions and regulated takeovers. He has also worked as
a solicitor with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission.
Matthew Rumpus, LLB (Hons), BComm
Assistant Company Secretary & Senior Legal Counsel
Appointed as Assistant Company Secretary 14 January 2016
Mr Rumpus is a practising lawyer and has experience in providing advice to directors of listed public
companies in relation to directors’ duties, the Corporations Act, the Listing Rules and corporate
governance. Prior to joining the Company, Mr Rumpus was a special counsel at a global law firm where
he specialised in corporate law including corporate governance, equity capital markets and mergers and
acquisitions.
Corporate information
Corporate structure
Navitas Limited is a company limited by shares that is registered and domiciled in Australia. Navitas
Limited has prepared a consolidated financial report incorporating the entities that it controlled during the
financial year as listed in note 7 of the financial statements.
Nature of operations and principal activities
The principal activities during the financial year of the Group were the provision of educational services to
domestic and overseas students. There have been no significant changes in the nature of those activities
during the year.
Operating and financial review
A review of the Group’s operations and financial performance has been provided on pages 6 to 23.
Dividends
Cents

$000s

Payment date

Final dividend recommended
- on ordinary shares for 2018

8.0

28,655

17 September 2018

Interim dividend paid during the year
- on ordinary shares

9.4

33,660

15 March 2018

Final dividend paid for 2017
- on ordinary shares

10.1

36,165

15 September 2017
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Significant changes in the state of affairs
There has been no significant change in the state of affairs of the Company since the end of the financial
year.
Since the reporting date, the Directors declared a final dividend on ordinary shares in respect of the 2018
financial year. The total amount of dividend is $28,655m, which represents a partially franked dividend of
8.0 cents per share. The dividend has not been provided for in the 30 June 2018 financial statements as
the dividend was declared after the end of the financial year.
Future developments
Likely developments in, expected results of the operations of the Group in subsequent years and the
Group’s business strategies are referred to elsewhere in this report, particularly on pages 6 to 23. In the
opinion of the directors, further information on those matters could prejudice the interests of the Company
and the Group and has therefore not been included in this report.
Environmental regulation and performance
The Group’s operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulations under the laws of the
countries it operates in. The Board believes that the Group has adequate systems in place for the
monitoring of environmental regulations and is not aware of any such regulations that apply to the Group.
Rounding
The amounts contained in this report and in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest $1,000
(where rounding is applicable) under the option available to the Company under ASIC Class Order
2016/191. The Company is an entity to which the Class Order applies.
Non-audit services
Details of the amounts paid to the auditor of the Company, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, and its related
practices for audit and non-audit services provided during the year are set out in note 7.3 to the financial
statements.
Auditor’s independence declaration
The auditor’s independence declaration is set on page 56 and forms part of the directors’ report for the
financial year ended 30 June 2018.
Independent Audit and Remuneration Report
The required disclosures as included on pages 34 to 52 of the remuneration report have been audited by
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
The directors’ report, including the remuneration report, is signed in accordance with a resolution of the
Directors.

D Buckingham
Group Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director
Perth, Western Australia, 6 August 2018
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
A.B.N. 74 490 121 060
Brookfield Place, Tower 2
123 St Georges Terrace
Perth WA 6000
GPO Box A46
Perth WA 6837 Australia

The Board of Directors
Navitas Limited
Level 8, Brookfield Place
125 St Georges Terrace
Perth WA 6000

Tel: +61 8 9365 7000
Fax: +61 8 9365 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

6 August 2018

Dear Directors
Navitas Limited
In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following
declaration of independence to the directors of Navitas Limited.
As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Navitas Limited for the financial
year ended 30 June 2018, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been
no contraventions of:
(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the
audit; and
(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Yours sincerely

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

Leanne Karamfiles
Partner
Chartered Accountants

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited

Financial Statements and Notes
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2018
Note
Revenue

2017
$000s

930,980

955,195

4.2
10
4.2
4.2

(153,948)
(217,239)
(487,064)
4,944
(75,321)
(9,188)

(145,579)
(218,787)
(466,953)
14,263
(7,469)

5.4

1,553

271

(5,283)

130,941

(32,663)
(7,458)
(9,900)

(41,130)
(8,942)

(50,021)

(50,072)

(55,304)

80,869

(4,035)
388
2,726

1,008
1,831
(366)

(921)

2,473

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year

(56,225)

83,342

(Loss)/profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

(55,847)
543

80,337
532

(55,304)

80,869

(56,795)
540

82,851
491

(56,255)

83,342

Marketing expenses
Academic expenses
Administration expenses
Non operating gains and losses
Impairment losses
Finance costs
Share of net profit of entities accounted for using the
equity method

2

2018
$000s

(Loss)/profit before income tax expense
Income tax expense from operations
Impact of changes in tax rates during the year
De-recognition of carry forward tax losses
Total income tax expense

4.4

(Loss)/profit for the year
Other comprehensive (expense)/income
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Net currency translation differences
Fair value movement in hedge instruments
Income tax relating to other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the year

Total comprehensive (expense)/income attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

Cents
(Loss)/earnings per share
Basic
Diluted

Cents

4.6
(15.6)
(15.6)

22.1
22.1

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2018
Note
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Current tax receivable
Prepayments and other assets

2018
$000s

2017
$000s

81,871
123,919
3,255
34,444

86,642
141,054
31,902

243,489

259,598

140,330
16,362
25,939
400,555
3,634

172,528
32,616
25,620
408,546
2,538

Total Non Current Assets

586,820

641,848

TOTAL ASSETS

830,309

901,446

129,646
278,502
3,262
22,520

127,754
262,112
3,890
3,099
11,395

433,930

408,250

44,707
280,477
42,388

50,906
269,567
16,985

Total Non Current Liabilities

367,572

337,458

TOTAL LIABILITIES

801,502

745,708

28,807

155,738

110,209
1,428
(459)
(83,255)

110,511
2,648
(731)
42,417

27,923

154,845

884

893

28,807

155,738

5.2
4.4

Total Current Assets
Non Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets
Investments accounted for using the equity method
Intangible assets
Other financial assets

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Deferred revenue
Current tax payable
Borrowings
Provisions

5.3
4.4
5.4
5.1

5.5
4.4
6.2
5.6

Total Current Liabilities
Non Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Provisions

5.5
6.2
5.6

NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Issued capital
Foreign currency translation reserve
Cash flow hedge reserve
(Accumulated losses)/retained earnings
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests
TOTAL EQUITY

6.5

The consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
notes.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2018
Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers and employees
Dividends received from equity accounted entities
Lease incentive contributions received
Interest received
Interest paid
Income tax paid

2018
$000s

2017
$000s

935,387
(796,084)
1,925
1,249
(8,771)
(41,405)

932,619
(826,962)
1,895
37,584
1,555
(7,401)
(37,756)

Net cash flows from operating activities

4.3

92,301

101,534

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of controlled entities, net of cash acquired
Proceeds on disposal of controlled entities, net of cash disposed
Purchase of other investments

5.3
10
10

(21,127)
(9,189)
2,692
(200)

(81,655)
(533)
(8,226)
(2,695)

(27,824)

(93,109)

(1,760)
534,902
(532,988)
(1,623)
(68,513)
(254)

(69,800)
452,298
(314,000)
(500)
(67,446)
(432)

(70,236)

120

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Net foreign exchange differences
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year

(5,759)
988
86,642

8,545
(822)
78,919

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

81,871

86,642

Net cash flows used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Payments for share buy-back
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Loans to joint ventures
Payment of dividends
Payment of dividends to non-controlling interests
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing activities

6.5

4.5

The consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2018
Issued
Capital
$000s
Balance at 1 July 2016
Profit for the year
Fair value movement in hedge instruments (after tax)
Net currency translation differences (after tax)

Foreign Currency
Translation Reserve
$000s

Cash Flow
Hedge Reserve
$000s

(Accumulated losses)
/Retained earnings
$000s

Non-controlling
interests
$000s

Total
equity
$000s

177,095
-

1,416
1,232

(2,013)
1,282
-

32,467
80,337
-

834
532
(41)

209,799
80,869
1,282
1,191

-

1,232

1,282

80,337

491

83,342

Dividend reinvestment plan
Employee share plan purchase
Share buy back
Dividends paid

2,941
275
(69,800)
-

-

-

(70,387)

(432)

2,941
275
(69,800)
(70,819)

Balance at 30 June 2017
Loss for the year
Fair value movement in hedge instruments (after tax)
Net currency translation differences (after tax)

110,511
-

2,648
(1,220)

(731)
272
-

42,417
(55,847)
-

893
543
(3)

155,738
(55,304)
272
(1,223)

-

(1,220)

272

(55,847)

540

(56,255)

1,312
146
(1,760)
-

-

-

(69,825)

(295)
(254)

1,312
146
(1,760)
(295)
(70,079)

Balance at 30 June 2018

110,209

1,428

(459)

(83,255)

884

28,807

Total attributable to:
Non-controlling interests – 30 June 2017
Non-controlling interests – 30 June 2018
Owners of the parent entity – 30 June 2017
Owners of the parent entity – 30 June 2018

110,511
110,209

2,648
1,428

(731)
(459)

42,417
(83,255)

893
884
-

893
884
154,845
27,923

Total comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year
Dividend reinvestment plan
Employee share plan purchase
Share buy-back
Acquisition of controlled entity
Dividends paid

Nature and purpose of reserves is set out in note 1.6. The consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2018

1

Basis of preparation

This section sets out the accounting policies that relate to the Financial Statements of Navitas Limited
(the “Company”) and its controlled entities.
The financial report of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2018 was authorised for issue in
accordance with a resolution of directors dated 6 August 2018.
Navitas Limited, the ultimate parent, is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose
shares are publicly traded on the Australian Securities Exchange.
1.1

Basis of accounting

Statement of compliance
The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards, and International Financial Reporting
Standards ('IFRS') as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.
The financial report is a general purpose financial report, for a ‘for-profit’ entity, which has been prepared
in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards
and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. The financial
report has also been prepared on a historical cost basis, except where noted.
The financial statements comprise the consolidated financial statements of the Navitas Group of
companies.
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
dollars ($000’s) unless otherwise stated.
Except as disclosed in notes 1.2 through to 1.6 the Company’s accounting policies are set out within each
note disclosure.
1.2

Changes to accounting policies

Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards
The Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations, including amendments
to the existing standards issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that are
relevant to their operations and effective for the current reporting period. The adoption of these
amendments has not resulted in any significant changes to the Group’s accounting policies nor any
significant effect on the measurement or disclosure of the amounts reported for the current or prior periods.
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective
A project team exists to assess the impact of new standards and interpretations.
At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, significant new Standards and Interpretations that
were issued but not yet effective, which have not been early adopted are listed below:
Affected Standards
and Interpretations

Application date
(reporting period
commences on or after)

Application
date for
Group

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

1 January 2018

1 July 2018

AASB 16 Leases

1 January 2019

1 July 2019
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1.2

Changes to accounting policies (continued)

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
The new revenue standard will apply from 1 July 2018 and replaces AASB 118 which covers revenue
arising from the sale of goods and the rendering of services.
The new standard is based on the principle that revenue is recognised when control of a good or service
transfers to a customer.
The Company has completed its assessment of the implications of adopting the new standard from 1 July
2018 and has concluded that there will be no significant changes to the Group’s accounting policies, as
set out in note 4.1.
AASB 16 Leases
The new leasing standard replaces AASB 117 Leases and requires that:
o

All leases are ‘capitalised’ by recognising the present value of the lease payments and showing them
either as lease assets (right-of-use assets) or together with property, plant and equipment.

o

A financial liability is recognised representing obligations to make future lease payments.

The standard permits either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach for the adoption.
The standard will affect primarily the accounting for the Group’s operating leases. As at the reporting date,
the Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of $462m as detailed in note 6.2.3.
The Company is currently assessing the effects of applying the new standard on the Group’s financial
statements and the extent to which these commitments will result in the recognition of lease assets and
liabilities for future lease payments and how this will affect the Group’s profit and classification of cash
flows. As part of this process, a detailed review is currently being undertaken on the Group’s global leasing
arrangements and the Company is working with a global property manager to finalise an AASB 16
compatible lease database that will form a key component of the implementation project.
The financial impact of the new standard in the 2020 financial year will be dependent on the Group’s lease
arrangements in place when the new standard is effective, and the accounting approach adopted,
however on adoption of the new standard the Group is currently estimating an increase in reported
earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) in excess of $60m, more than offset
by higher depreciation and interest expense resulting in a $5m to $10m reduction in reported profit after
tax. These assessments include existing obligations related to the C&I Division’s ongoing SAE US
business units. The Group’s assets and liabilities are forecast to increase significantly following
recognition of assets and liabilities representing the present value of the operating lease commitments.
There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a material
impact on the Group in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.
1.3

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

In applying the Group's accounting policies the Company continually evaluates judgements, estimates
and assumptions based on experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that may
have an impact on the Group. All judgements, estimates and assumptions made are believed to be
reasonable based on the most current set of circumstances available to the Company. Actual results may
differ from the judgements, estimates and assumptions.
Significant judgements, estimates and assumptions made by the Company in the preparation of these
financial statements are outlined below:
Significant accounting judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, the Company has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amount
recognised in the financial statements: Recoverability of deferred tax assets (refer note 4.4).
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1.3

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Significant accounting estimates and assumptions
The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and
assumptions of future events. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual
reporting period are: Impairment of goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives (refer note 5.1),
provision for impairment of trade receivables (refer note 5.2) and onerous lease contracts (refer note 5.6).
1.4

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Navitas Limited and its
subsidiaries (as outlined in note 7.1) as at, and for the period ended, 30 June each year (the Group).
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has control. Control is achieved when the Group
has power over an entity and is exposed to, or has rights over, the variable returns of the entity, as well
as the ability to use this power to affect the variable returns of the entity.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as Navitas, using
consistent accounting policies. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany
balances and transactions, income and expenses and profit and losses resulting from intragroup
transactions have been eliminated in full.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by the Group and cease to
be consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control, is accounted
for as an equity transaction.
Non-controlling interests are allocated their share of net profit after tax in the statement of comprehensive
income and are presented within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from
the equity of the owners of the parent.
Losses are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance.
Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method after initially being recognised at cost
in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Transactions and balances between the Company and its joint ventures were eliminated in the preparation
of consolidated financial statements of the Group to the extent of the Group’s share in profits and losses
of the joint venture resulting from these transactions.
1.5

Foreign currencies

Functional and presentation currency
Both the functional and presentation currency of Navitas Limited and its Australian subsidiaries is
Australian dollars ($). The functional and presentation currency of the non Australian Group companies
is the national currency of the country of operation.
Transactions & balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the exchange rates
ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Foreign currency differences arising
on translation are recognised in the profit or loss.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined.
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1.5

Foreign currencies (continued)

Translation of Group companies’ functional currency to presentation currency
As at the reporting date the assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date and the statements of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
The exchange differences arising on the translation are taken directly to a separate component of equity,
the foreign currency translation reserve.
1.6

Nature and purpose of reserves

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries and record foreign exchange gains and
losses on the hedges of the net investments of foreign operations.
Cash flow hedge reserve records the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash flow
hedge that is determined to be an effective hedge.

2

Segment information

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may
earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other
components of the Group), whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s Chief Executive
Officer to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance and
for which discrete financial information is available. The Company will also consider other factors in
determining operating segments such as the existence of a line manager and the level of segment
information presented to the board of directors.
Operating segments for Navitas are:
University Partnerships
Division:

The University Partnerships division delivers education programs, via
pathway colleges and managed campuses, to students requiring a
university education.

Careers & Industry
Division, comprising:
SAE:

The SAE division delivers education programs in the area of creative
media including courses in audio, film and multimedia.

Professional and
English Programs
(PEP):

The division delivers English language tuition, jobs skills training and
higher and vocational education in health, security and psychology.

Corporate:

Corporate is the aggregation of the Group’s corporate functions.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as if the sales or transfers were to third parties
at current market prices. Segment revenues are attributed to geographic areas based on the location of
the customers providing the revenues.
Segment accounting policies are the same as the Group’s policies.
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2

Segment information (continued)

Geographical areas
The Group operates in the following geographical areas.
External Operating Revenue
2018
2017
$000s
$000s

Non Current Assets*
2018
2017
$000s
$000s

Australia
United Kingdom
Europe
Asia
Canada
United States
Rest of World

562,856
81,536
62,234
33,748
103,362
83,784
2,173

600,224
73,414
57,483
31,472
87,494
99,955
3,462

212,504
231,599
106,750
9,501
868
9,226
10

232,914
229,929
99,663
9,422
716
36,035
553

Total

929,693

953,504

570,458

609,232

* excludes deferred tax assets.
Impact of foreign exchange rates on revenue
Using average foreign exchange rates that applied in the 2017 financial year, operating revenue for the
2018 financial year would have been $922.9m. This is principally due to depreciation of the Australian
Dollar compared to the British Pound (GBP) and the Euro (EUR).
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2

Segment information (continued)
University Partnerships

$000s

SAE
2018

2017

2018

2017

Careers and Industry
PEP
2018
2017

Corporate

Navitas Limited

Total
2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

Revenue
Tuition services
Other services

535,892
62,995

525,576
48,553

186,607
16,810

185,861
14,801

111,736
2,410

173,451
941

298,343
19,220

359,312
15,742

8,581
4,662

4,321

842,816
86,877

884,888
68,616

Total segment revenue

598,887

574,129

203,417

200,662

114,146

174,392

317,563

375,054

13,243

4,321

929,693

953,504

1,287

1,691

930,980

955,195

Interest revenue
Total revenue
Result
EBITDA3 before C&I Division
rationalisation expenses
132,142

131,253

27,238

29,940

18,406

31,071

45,644

61,011

(35,708)

(37,216)

142,078

155,048

EBITDA3 after C&I Division
rationalisation expenses
Non operating gains and losses
Depreciation
Impairment loss – PP&E
Amortisation
Impairment loss - goodwill

132,142
(5,616)
(211)
-

131,253
(5,914)
(211)
-

(29,913)1
916
(14,817)
(24,232)
(25,876)

29,940
(15,636)
-

15,4382
(3,246)
(176)
(393)
(3,500)

31,071
(4,540)
(393)

(14,475)
916
(18,063)
(24,408)
(393)
(29,376)

61,011
(20,176)
(393)
-

(35,708)
4,028
(7,771)
-

(37,216)
14,263
(6,169)
-

81,959
4,944
(31,450)
(24,408)
(604)
(29,376)

155,048
14,263
(32,259)
(604)
-

EBIT4

126,315

125,128

(93,922)

14,304

8,123

26,138

(85,799)

40,442

(39,451)

(29,122)

1,065

136,448

1

includes $57.151m of expenses relating to onerous leases, provisions and asset impairments, principally for the SAE US
Business (see note 3).
2
includes $2.968m of expenses relating to onerous leases and other provisions of the Health Skills Australia
business (see note 3).

Net finance expense
Share of net profit of joint ventures

(7,901)
1,553

(5,778)
271

(Loss)/profit before income tax

(5,283)

130,941

3

Income tax expense

(50,021)

(50,072)

(Loss)/profit for the year

(55,304)

80,869

EBITDA = Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortisation, impairments and non-operating
gains or losses. EBITDA excludes the share of results of equity accounted investments in joint ventures.
4
EBIT = Earnings before tax and net finance expense.
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3

Significant changes in the Group’s Operations

Subsequent to 30 June 2018, the Group completed a detailed portfolio review of the Careers and Industry
Division, and announced it will undertake a rationalisation program to address the profitability of parts of
its portfolio and create a solid foundation for growth in the Division.
The Careers and Industry Division rationalisation program will include:
•
•
•
•
•

investigation of a divestment of all SAE US colleges;
closure of two sub scale SAE US colleges on the west coast;
closure or divestment of Health Skills Australia;
closure of SAE Oxford; and
conversion of SAE Indonesia into a licensed operation.

The following significant one-off expenses have been recorded at 30 June 2018 in relation to the C&I
Division.
Value
$000s
Item
Onerous lease expenses
34,651
Goodwill impairment expense
29,376
Property, plant and equipment impairment expenses
24,408
Trade receivables impairment expenses
21,537
Deferred tax asset de-recognition
9,900
Other provisions
3,931
Total

123,803

Property, plant and equipment relating to leasehold improvements, office and classroom fit out and
furniture, and equipment assets has been impaired by $24.408m following a review of the Division’s
property, plant and equipment assets recoverable value using fair value less cost to sell and value in use
models. An impairment charge of $24.408m has been recorded at 30 June 2018 (see note 5.3).
Provisions totalling $38.582m have been recorded to account for the future economic outflows in relation
to the C&I Division at 30 June 2018. The primary component of this provision is:
•

Estimated amounts payable for onerous contracts representing the present value of the
remaining commitment to lease obligations, for the operations listed above, less any expected
returns from potential sub lease arrangements, or other arrangements to reduce a lease
commitment, totalling $34.651m (see note 5.6).

Additionally, the Group has recorded the following impairment charges:
•

Goodwill to the value of $29.376m has been impaired following the completion of recoverable
value testing in relation to the SAE and Health Skills Australia cash generating units (refer note
5.1)

•

Trade receivables related to the SAE US business of $21.537m have been considered fully
impaired at 30 June 2018 and an impairment loss of $21.537m recognised (refer note 5.2)

•

Deferred tax assets, relating to US domiciled carry forward tax losses, of $9.900m have been
derecognised following changes in the Group’s expectations of its ability to recover the value of
the tax losses through profitable operations (refer note 4.4.3).

67

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2018
4

Financial performance

This section focuses on the results and performance of the Group and includes disclosures explaining the
Group’s results for the year, significant items, taxation, earnings per share and dividends.
4.1

Revenue

Accounting policies
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the revenue can be reliably measured at the fair value of the consideration received.
In relation to the provision of education services (including both tuition and other services), which is the
Group’s primary activity, revenue is recognised where the contract outcome can be reliably measured,
the Group has control of the right to be compensated for the education services, and the stage of
completion can be reliably measured. The stage of completion is measured by reference to the number
of contact days held as a percentage of the total number of contact days in the course. Where income is
recorded in advance of the provision of service the full amount is recognised as deferred revenue in the
statement of financial position. Revenue is then recognised as outlined above.
4.2

Expenses

Accounting policies
Interest
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue
costs, and any discount or premium on settlement.
Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:
Plant and equipment – over 2 to 10 years
Leasehold improvements – the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each financial year end.
Leases
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis
over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating
leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefits of incentives are recognised as a reduction of rental
expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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4.2

Expenses (continued)

Expense analysis by nature:
Notes
Finance costs
Bank loans and overdrafts
Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation
Amortisation

Impairment losses
Impairment of goodwill
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Impairment of trade receivables

5.3
5.1

3, 5.1
3, 5.3
3, 5.2

Leases
Minimum lease payments – operating leases
Onerous lease expense

3, 5.6

Employee benefits expense
Employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

4.3

2018
$000s

2017
$000s

9,188

7,469

31,450
604

32,259
604

32,054

32,863

29,376
24,408
21,537

-

75,321

-

62,488

58,645

34,651

-

343,156
22,394

341,922
22,302

365,550

364,224

Reconciliation of (loss)/profit for the year to net cash flows from operating activities
2018
$000s

Net (loss)/profit for the year

2017
$000s

(55,304)

80,869

31,450
604
29,376
24,408
(6,595)
(4,944)
342
(191)

32,259
604
29,956
(14,263)
180
164

372

1,624

Decrease/(increase) in assets
Trade and other receivables
Prepayments and other assets
Deferred tax assets

21,056
(789)
15,780

(23,079)
(7,890)
14,232

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities
Trade and other payables
Deferred revenue
Current tax payable
Provisions

1,855
5,571
(7,410)
36,720

(6,542)
1,429
(379)
(7,630)

Net cash flows from operating activities

92,301

101,534

Non-cash items
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairment of goodwill
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Lease incentives
Non operating (gains) and losses
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Net exchange (gains)/losses
Share of undistributed losses of entities accounted for
using the equity method

5.3
5.1
5.1
5.3
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4.4

Taxation

This note sets out the tax accounting policies of the Group, the current and deferred tax charges or credits
in the year (which together make up the total tax charge or credit in the statement of comprehensive
income), a reconciliation of (loss)/profit before tax to the tax charge (or credit) and the movements in the
deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Accounting policies
Income tax
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the
amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
Deferred income tax is generally provided on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred tax assets are recognised where the Company considers that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available to utilise those temporary differences. The carrying amount of deferred income tax
assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the profit
or loss.
2018
2017
$000s
$000s
4.4.1

Income tax expense

The major components of income tax expense are:
Income tax recognised in profit or loss
Current income tax
Current income tax charge
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years

(37,176)
3,038

(37,447)
70

Deferred income tax
Relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences
Change in the carrying value of carry forward tax losses
Impact of changes in tax rates during the year

1,475
(9,900)
(7,458)

(3,753)
(8,942)
-

(50,021)

(50,072)

Income tax reported in the statement of comprehensive
income
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4.4

Taxation (continued)

The following table provides numerical reconciliation between aggregate tax expenses recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income and tax expense calculated per the statutory income tax
rate.
2018
$000s
Accounting (loss)/profit before tax

2017
$000s

(5,283)

130,941

1,585

(39,282)

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years
Non-taxable gains
Impairment of goodwill
Other impairment losses (a)
Onerous lease provisions (a)
Other non-deductible items
Change in the carrying value of carry forward tax losses
Impact of changes in tax rates during the year
Effect of local tax rates not at 30%

3,038
638
(8,813)
(13,784)
(10,395)
(894)
(9,900)
(7,458)
(4,038)

70
4,279
(100)
(8,942)
(6,097)

Income tax reported in the statement of comprehensive income

(50,021)

(50,072)

At the Group’s statutory income tax rate of 30%

(a) Impairment losses and provisions totaling $80.596m have been treated as non taxable items as
they do not qualify to be recognised as deferred tax assets at 30 June 2018.
4.4.2

Recognised tax assets and liabilities

Current income tax (receivable)/payable
Opening balance
Charged to income
Foreign exchange movements
Payments
Closing balance
Deferred income tax
Opening balance
Charged to income
Foreign exchange movements
Charged to equity
Closing balance

3,890
34,138
122
(41,405)

4,057
37,377
212
(37,756)

(3,255)

3,890

32,616
(15,883)
31
(402)

47,549
(12,695)
(1,595)
(643)

16,362

32,616

9,623
2,406
1,160
560
484
2,129

9,670
1,706
1,324
962
220
17,358
1,376

16,362

32,616

Deferred income tax relates to the following:
Deferred tax assets
Employee provisions
Other provisions
Lease incentives
Derivative instruments (swaps)
Unrealised foreign exchange losses
Carry forward tax losses
Other temporary differences

4.4.3
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Taxation (continued)

4.4.3

Carry forward tax losses

At 30 June 2017 the Group had US Federal and State operating tax losses of $17.358m that had been
incurred by the Group’s US domiciled entities since inception. These losses are able to be utilised in years
through to 2034 for both US federal and US state purposes.
During the year, the US Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was signed into legislation. Under the Act, the previous
US top corporate rate of 35% was reduced permanently to 21%, for tax years beginning after 1 January
2018.
In accordance with AASB 112 Income Taxes, the Group re-measured the remaining US related carry
forward tax losses and recognised a reduction in the carrying value of these tax assets of $7.458m.
Subsequent to this the remaining carrying value of these tax assets was $9.900m.
At 30 June 2018, the Group completed a review of the recoverability of these losses in conjunction with a
review of the expected profits and cash flows to be generated by SAE US. The principal findings of this
review has been that profits and cash flows from SAE’s US operations are expected to be lower than
previously forecast, resulting in the de-recognition of the remaining $9.900m asset balance. See note 3
for further information.
4.5
4.5.1

Dividends
Recognised amounts

2018
$000s

2017
$000s

Declared and paid during the year
Franked dividends on ordinary shares:
Final dividends for 2017: 10.1 cents (2016: 9.9 cents)
Interim dividends for 2018: 9.4 cents (2017: 9.4 cents)

36,165
33,660

36,593
33,794

69,825

70,387

Value of shares issued in lieu of cash dividends, under the dividend
reinvestment plan

(1,312)

(2,941)

Cash dividends paid in year

68,513

67,446

28,655

36,165

4.5.2

Unrecognised amounts

Dividends proposed and not recognised as a liability
Franked dividends on ordinary shares:
Final dividends for 2018: 8.0 cents (2017: 10.1 cents)
4.5.3 Franking credits
At balance date the value of franking credits available (at 30%) was $nil (2017: $7.3m).
4.6

(Loss)\earnings per share
2018

Net (loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the parent ($000s)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for (loss)/earnings per
share (Number of shares)

2017

(55,847)

80,337

358,163,990

363,868,255
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5

Assets and Liabilities

This section shows the assets used to generate the Group’s revenue and the liabilities incurred as a result.
Liabilities relating to the Group’s financing activities are addressed in Section 6. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are shown in note 4.4.
On the following pages there are notes covering intangible assets, working capital, other non-current
assets and provisions.
5.1

Intangible assets

Accounting policies
Goodwill
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is not amortised. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash generating units, or groups of cash generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities
of the acquiree are assigned to those units or groups of units.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is so allocated:
1)
2)

represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes; and
is not larger than an operating segment determined in accordance with AASB 8 Operating
Segments.

Other Identifiable Intangible Assets
Other identifiable intangible assets acquired separately or in a business combination are initially measured
at cost. The cost of an identifiable intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair value as
at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, identifiable intangible assets are carried at cost less
any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
The useful lives of these identifiable intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Identifiable intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the identifiable intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an identifiable intangible asset with a finite useful life
is reviewed at least at each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern
of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the
amortisation period or method, as appropriate, which is a change in accounting estimate. The amortisation
expense on identifiable intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense
category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.
Identifiable intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed each reporting period to determine whether indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite
to finite is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate and is thus accounted for on a prospective
basis.
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Intangible assets (continued)

A summary of the policies applied to the Group's identifiable intangible assets is as follows:
Brand Names (a)
Useful lives
Amortisation period and
method used
Internally generated/acquired
Recoverable amount testing

(a)

Other (b)

Indefinite

Finite

Not applicable
Acquired
Annually and where an
indicator of impairment
exists.

Between 10 and 25 years – straight line
Acquired
Where an indicator of impairment exists.
Amortisation method reviewed at each
financial year end.

Brand Names

Brand names include intangible assets acquired in the SAE business combination. This intangible asset
has been assessed as having an indefinite life on the basis of brand strength, ongoing expected
profitability and the expectation of minimal ongoing expenditure.
(b)

Other

Other includes copyrights and licences acquired through business combinations, principally the
acquisition of businesses within the PEP division.
$000s
Gross carrying amount
Balance at 1 July 2016
Acquisition of controlled entity
Disposal of controlled entities
Impact of foreign currency conversion

Goodwill

Brand
Names

Other

Total

312,504
536
(2,086)
(1,152)

136,000
-

17,694
-

466,198
536
(2,086)
(1,152)

Balance at 1 July 2017
Acquisition of controlled entities
Impact of foreign currency conversion

309,802
17,412
4,911

136,000
-

17,694
-

463,496
17,412
4,911

Balance at 30 June 2018

332,125

136,000

17,694

485,819

Accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses
Balance at 1 July 2016
Amortisation expense
Impact of foreign currency conversion

(45,689)
409

-

(9,066)
(604)
-

(54,755)
(604)
409

Balance at 1 July 2017
Amortisation expense
Impairment loss (refer note 3)
Impact of foreign currency conversion

(45,280)
(29,376)
(334)

-

(9,670)
(604)
-

(54,950)
(604)
(29,376)
(334)

Balance at 30 June 2018

(74,990)

-

(10,274)

(85,264)

Net book value
At 1 July 2016

266,815

136,000

8,628

411,443

At 1 July 2017

264,522

136,000

8,024

408,546

At 30 June 2018

257,135

136,000

7,420

400,555
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Intangible assets (continued)

Foreign currency conversion of goodwill
Some goodwill balances are denominated in currencies other than Australian Dollars. In particular a
substantial portion of goodwill associated with the purchase of the SAE Group is denominated in Euro’s.
These non-Australian Dollar balances are translated at the rate applicable at the reporting date, into
Australian Dollars and fluctuate in line with foreign exchange movements. The exchange differences
arising on the translation are taken directly to the foreign currency translation reserve.
5.1.1

Impairment

Accounting policies
Impairment testing is completed at each reporting date for goodwill and intangible assets that have
indefinite useful lives or assets that are not ready for use, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired.
For intangible assets that are subject to amortisation the asset is reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount. Indicators of impairment may include changes in technology and business
performance.
In testing for impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated for an individual asset or, if it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount for the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs.
CGUs are the smallest identifiable group of assets that generate cash flows that are largely independent
from the cash flows of other assets or group of assets. Each CGU is no larger than an operating segment.
The recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is the greater of fair value less cost of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the risks specific to the asset or CGU and the market’s current
assessment of the time value of money. An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement if the
carrying amount of an asset or a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in
respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU
(group of CGUs) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs).
Impairment losses recognised in respect of goodwill are not reversed. Impairment losses recognised in
prior periods in respect of other intangible assets are assessed at each reporting date for any indications
that the impairment loss has decreased or may no longer exist. The impairment loss is reversed if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of the asset and is
reversed only to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of amortisation, had no impairment loss been recognised.
Impairment losses
During the financial year the Group recognised impairment losses of $29.376m as set out below.
Health Skills Australia (HSA)
Following changes in the Australian vocational education funding regime over the past two years, the
demand for courses provided by HSA has been declining, and is forecast to continue to decline.
Accordingly, the Group has performed a value in use calculation of the HSA cash generating unit at 30
June 2018 and determined that the recoverable amount was $nil (2017: $3.500m). Therefore, $3.500m
of goodwill recognised on the acquisition of HSA is no longer considered recoverable, and a goodwill
impairment charge of $3.500m has been recognised as at 30 June 2018. Subsequent to year end (as set
out in note 3), Navitas announced the closure and teach out of the HSA business.
SAE Group
Navitas has completed a review of the expected cash flows to be generated by SAE. The principal findings
of this review has been that cash flows from SAE’s US operations are expected to be lower than previously
forecast.
Navitas previously expected that the SAE US business units would be able to quickly develop and accredit
new courses, and that the new courses would underpin significant year on year growth in student
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Intangible assets (continued)

enrolments. Navitas also expected that excess teaching and premise capacity would be utilised
contributing to margin improvement and cash flow growth.
SAE US’s performance has not met expectations and has not accredited new courses in line with the
expected timetable, and Navitas now expects future new courses to only be available after an extended
accreditation period. Also, the cash flow investment in the SAE US business to support the growth
forecasts has been revised in line with recent results. Accordingly, Navitas now expects that future cash
flows from SAE US will not achieve previous expectations.
On this basis the Group has performed a value in use calculation of the SAE cash generating unit at 30
June 2018 and determined that the recoverable value of goodwill is $131.776m (2017: $152.414m)
compared to a carrying value of $157.652m (2017: $152.414m). Therefore, $25.876m of goodwill
recognised on the acquisition of SAE is no longer considered recoverable, and a goodwill impairment
charge of $25.876m has been recognised as at 30 June 2018. Subsequent to year end (as set out in note
3), Navitas announced the closure and teach out of two SAE US operations in San Jose and Los Angeles,
and a rationalisation of the remaining SAE US business.
There were no impairment losses recognised during the 2017 financial year.
Impairment testing of goodwill and indefinite life identifiable intangible assets
Carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the cash generating units
The carrying amounts of acquired goodwill have been allocated to the following individual cash generating
units that have significant amounts of intangibles, for impairment testing, as follows:
Cash generating unit (or group of units)
SAE
PEP, English and Foundation Skills
PEP, ELICOS
Curtin College
ASAM (refer note 10)
Deakin College
Australian College of Applied Psychology
Griffith College
Multiple units without significant intangibles

Carrying amount of Goodwill ($000s)
2018
2017
131,776
152,414
31,944
31,944
13,689
13,689
13,089
13,089
12,925
11,738
11,738
10,804
10,804
9,980
9,980
21,190
20,864
257,135

264,522

Value in use calculations for SAE
The recoverable amount of SAE has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash
flow projections covering a five year period, based on detailed financial forecasts prepared by local
management and approved by SAE and Navitas Senior Executives.
The following describes each key assumption on which the Company has based its value in use
calculation for SAE.
•

The discount rate applied to pre-tax cash flow projections is 12.3%.

•

Cash flows beyond the five year period are estimated using a terminal value calculated under
standard valuation principles incorporating a long term growth rate of 2.0%.

•

Revenue from operations is forecast to increase as a result of increased volumes of students.
This has been estimated as 5% cumulatively over the five year forecast period. Weighted
average forecast course fees have not been assumed to increase significantly due to
conservative estimates and changed country mix. Wage inflation is assumed to be in line with
the long run historical average for Australia, and EBITDA margins are forecast to improve in line
with the long run average achieved by established SAE schools.

•

The impact of working capital has been assumed to increase in line with revenue growth.
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•

Capital investment required to run the business has been assumed based on detailed estimates
for three years then at 5.0% of forecast revenues.

In addition, the cash flow projections for SAE also assumes the continued ability of existing and future
students to access government funding (loans) for the purpose of obtaining a qualification from a SAE
school. This includes access to Title IV funding in the USA and Fee-Help in Australia.
During the year the Group recorded an impairment loss of $25.8m against the carrying value of SAE
goodwill. A further impairment of a similar amount would be recognised based on changing any one of
the key assumptions (with all other assumptions held constant) as set out below:
•

Discount rate – a 9% increase in the pre tax discount rate to 13.3%.

•

Long term growth rate – a 50% reduction in the long term growth rate to 1%.

•

Capital investment – a 20% increase in capital invested

•

Forecast EBITDA - a 5% reduction in EBITDA, over the five year forecast period, either due to
slower than forecast revenue growth or lower EBITDA margin.

The recoverable value of the SAE brand name of $136m has been assessed using the same methods
and assumptions as the related goodwill.
Value in use calculations for other cash generating units
The recoverable amount of these cash generating units has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections covering a five year period, based on financial forecasts approved
by Navitas Senior Executives.
The following describes each key assumption on which the Company has based its value in use
calculation for the remaining cash generating units.
•

The discount rate applied to pre-tax cash flow projections is 11.4% and cash flows beyond the
five year period are estimated using a terminal value calculated under standard valuation
principles incorporating a long term growth rate of 2%.

•

Revenue from operations is forecast to increase due to increased volumes of students and fee
growth in line with historical performance. Wage inflation is assumed to be in line with the long
run historical average, and forecast EBITDA margins are assumed to be stable, and in line with
the long run average achieved by the established cash generating units.

In addition, the cash flow projections for the following cash generating units, also assume that significant
partnership or service delivery contracts are renewed at the end of the current fixed contract period. If the
contracts are not renewed on substantially the same or similar terms and conditions then goodwill may
be impaired.
Cash generating units subject to partnership or
service delivery contracts with fixed term, subject
to renewal
PEP, English and Foundation Skills
Curtin College
Deakin College
Griffith College
Multiple units without significant intangibles

Carrying amount of goodwill
associated with each cash
generating unit ($000s)
31,944
13,089
11,738
9,980
11,473
78,224

Except for loss of material contracts, there are no reasonably possible changes in key assumptions that
would result in a material impairment of intangible assets for these cash generating units.
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5.2

Trade and other receivables

Accounting policies
Trade receivables, which generally have 30 to 60 day terms, are initially recognised at fair value and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any provisions for
expected impairment losses or actual impairment losses.
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts that are known to be
uncollectible are written off when identified.
2018
$000s
Trade receivables
Provision for impairment

Accrued income
Other receivables

2017
$000s

114,756
(7,048)

122,702
(7,146)

107,708

115,556

12,475
3,736

21,480
4,018

123,919

141,054

Government Funded Student Loans
Trade receivables representing approximately 50% (2017: 50%) of the total balance are funded under
Government student loan arrangements. The funds are received by regular installments over the tuition
period. Subject to certain criteria being achieved by the student, Government funding has low credit risk.
General Student Receivables
In situations where revenues are not provided in advance of service, or via Government funded student
loan arrangements, it is the Group's policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject
to credit verification procedures including an assessment of their independent credit rating, financial
position, and past experience. Risk limits are set for each individual customer type in accordance with
parameters set by the Board. These risk limits are monitored regularly.
Collateral is not requested nor is it the Group's policy to securitise its trade and other receivables.
Credit risk on these receivables is considered low.
Receivables related to the SAE US Business
The Group has completed a detailed portfolio review of the Careers and Industry Division. During the
review it was assessed that the credit risk of the SAE US trade receivables balances had increased since
initial recognition, following a significant increase in receivables balances in arrears. Following this
assessment receivable balances totaling $21.357m have been fully impaired at 30 June 2018.

At balance date, the carrying value of the trade receivable balance is assumed to approximate its fair
value, and is also the maximum limit of credit risk. The balance of trade receivables that is past due and
not impaired is not significant.
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5.3

Property, plant and equipment

Accounting policies
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in
value. Information in relation to depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment is
included in section 4.2.
Certain comparatives have been reclassified to be comparable to current year treatment.
Plant and
equipment

$000s

Leasehold
Improvements

Total

Gross carrying amount
Balance at 1 July 2016
Additions
Disposal of controlled entity
Disposals
Exchange differences

116,813
9,573
(228)
(8,812)
(2,018)

140,260
66,858
(30,807)
(2,400)

257,073
76,431
(228)
(39,619)
(4,418)

Balance at 1 July 2017
Additions
Acquisition of controlled entities
Disposal of controlled entity
Disposals
Exchange differences

115,328
15,930
259
(1,351)
(4,211)
3,199

173,911
5,420
(81)
(4,455)
2,900

289,239
21,350
259
(1,432)
(8,666)
6,099

Closing balance at 30 June 2018

129,154

177,695

306,849

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 July 2016
Depreciation expense
Disposal of controlled entity
Disposals
Exchange differences

(45,178)
(15,624)
166
8,010
798

(80,344)
(16,635)
30,695
1,401

(125,522)
(32,259)
166
38,705
2,199

Balance at 1 July 2017
Depreciation expense
Impairment loss (refer note 3)
Disposal of controlled entity
Disposals
Exchange differences

(51,828)
(18,690)
(5,217)
1,032
3,629
(1,004)

(64,883)
(12,760)
(19,191)
38
4,410
(2,055)

(116,711)
(31,450)
(24,408)
1,070
8,039
(3,059)

Closing balance at 30 June 2018

(72,078)

(94,441)

(166,519)

Net book value
At 1 July 2016

71,635

59,916

131,551

At 1 July 2017

63,500

109,028

172,528

At 30 June 2018

57,076

83,254

140,330

5.3.1

Additions

During the 2017 financial year, the Group completed commercial fit outs of new leased premises in
Sydney, Australia. These fit outs were partially funded by lease incentives contributed by the landlord. In
that year, $37.6m was received as lease incentive from the landlord, $14.6m of which was received in
relation to fit out recorded in the financial year ended 30 June 2016.
The Group has entered into finance leases over certain assets, included within plant and equipment, with
an original cost of $25.6m and a net book value at 30 June 2018 of $22.2m (2017: $24.2m). Leased
assets are pledged as security for the related finance lease liabilities (see note 6.2).
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5.4

Investments accounted for using the equity method

The Group has the following investments that are accounted for using the equity method:
Name

Interest

Australian School of Applied Management (ASAM) (see note 10)
Edith Cowan College Pty Ltd (see note 10)
The College, Swansea University (see note 10)
University of Canberra College Pty Limited *
Western Sydney University International College Pty Ltd

2018
50%
50%
51%
50%

2017
30%
50%
51%
50%

* Entity jointly controlled in accordance with the provisions of the Shareholders Agreement.
ASAM is part of Navitas Ventures and provides leadership development programs and symposiums
principally in Australia. During the current year, Navitas increased its ownership interest in ASAM to 90%.
As a result, ASAM is now a controlled entity and is consolidated by Navitas.
The other investments are joint ventures that provide University Partnerships educational services within
Australia and the UK.
Summarised combined statement of financial position for these investments is set out below:
2018
$000s
Current Assets
Non Current Assets
Current Liabilities
Non Current Liabilities

2017
$000s

20,131
1,157
(21,582)
(3,010)

21,253
4,095
(27,188)
(1,899)

Equity

(3,304)

(3,739)

Navitas share at relevant ownership interest
Goodwill

(1,652)
27,591

(1,643)
27,263

Carrying amount of the investments accounted for
using the equity method

25,939

25,620

Summarised combined statement of financial performance for these investments is as follows:
Joint Venture (JV) results
Navitas share of JV results
Navitas share
2018
2017
2018
2017
$000s
$000s
$000s
$000s
Operating revenue

39,184

32,441

19,592

16,221

EBITDA

3,965

2,714

1,983

1,357

Profit after tax

3,105

541

1,553

271
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5.5

Trade and other payables

Accounting policies
Trade payables and other payables have 30-60 day terms and are carried at amortised cost and represent
liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid
and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these
goods and services.
Wages, salaries, annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave expected to be
settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees’
services up to the reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled.
Annual leave expected to be settled more than 12 months after the reporting date is measured as the
present value of the expected future payments, adjusted for future wage and salary levels, and are
recognised in other payables.
Lease incentives
Lease incentives received under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straightline basis over the lease term. Leasehold improvements that are funded by lease incentives are included
in property, plant and equipment – refer note 5.3.

2018
$000s
Current
Trade payables
Other payables
Lease incentives

Non Current
Lease incentives

5.6

2017
$000s

12,165
112,121
5,360

10,519
111,683
5,552

129,646

127,754

44,707

50,906

Provisions

Accounting policies
Provisions
Provisions are measured at the present value of the Company’s best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date. If the effect of the time value of money is material,
provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the
liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.
Make good
Under the terms of its lease agreements the Group must restore certain leased premises to their condition
as at the commencement of the lease.
Onerous contracts
When a contract becomes onerous, the present obligation under the contract is recognised as a provision
and measured at the lower of the expected cost of fulfilling the contract and the expected cost of
terminating the contract to the extent that this exceeds the expected economic benefits of the contract.
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5.6

Provisions (continued)

Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as
the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by the
employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels,
experience of employee departures, and periods of service.
Expected future long service leave payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on
high quality corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the
estimated future cash outflows.
2018
$000s
Current
Employee benefits
Onerous lease contracts (refer note 3)
Make good

Non Current
Employee benefits
Onerous lease contracts (refer note 3)
Make good

6

2017
$000s

8,623
13,296
601

8,740
2,655

22,520

11,395

6,806
21,355
14,227

5,252
11,733

42,388

16,985

Capital structure and financing

This section outlines how the Group manages its capital structure and related financing costs, including
its balance sheet liquidity and access to capital markets.
The Directors determine the appropriate capital structure, specifically, how much is raised from
shareholders (equity) and how much is borrowed from financial institutions (debt) in order to finance the
Group’s activities both now and in the future. The Directors consider the Group’s capital structure and
dividend policy ahead of announcing results and do so in the context of its ability to continue as a going
concern, to execute the strategy and to deliver its business plan.
6.1

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounting policies
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand and
short-term deposits that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash
flows arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation
authority are classified as operating cash flows.
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.
Tuition Fees held in Tuition Protection Service Accounts in Australia
The Group is required to maintain, in Australia, separate bank accounts for funds received from
international students prior to commencement of their course (prepaid fees). As at 30 June 2018, the
Group’s Australian operations held $47.7m (2017: $41.7m) in prepaid fees for students who had not
commenced studies with the Group, with a corresponding amount included in deferred revenue.
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6.1

Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

These funds are held in separate bank accounts until the student commences their course, at which point
the funds may be used to settle normal obligations of the Group. At all times, the Group must ensure that
there are sufficient funds in these separate bank accounts to repay prepaid tuition fees in full to all
international students, in respect of whom tuition fees have been paid and who have not yet commenced
their course.
6.2

Borrowings

Accounting policies
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received.
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue
costs, and any discount or premium on settlement.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance date.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to,
the taxation authority.
2018
$000s

2017
$000s

Current
Finance lease liabilities (secured)

6.2.3

3,262

3,099

Non Current
Finance lease liabilities (secured)
Bank loans (unsecured)

6.2.3
6.2.1

18,338
262,139

21,534
248,033

280,477

269,567

6.2.1

Summary of borrowing arrangements

At reporting date, the following banking facilities had been executed and were available.
2018
$000s
Total facilities
Credit facility
Facilities unutilised at balance date
Credit facility
Credit facility amounts utilised comprise
Rental and Performance guarantees
Borrowings (drawn in Australian Dollars, Canadian Dollars,
US Dollars and Singapore Dollars)

2017
$000s

400,000

400,000

74,723

91,836

63,138

60,131

262,139

248,033

325,277

308,164

The borrowings of $262.139m (2017: $248.033m) include $119.731m (2017: $118.658m) at floating
interest rates and $142.408m (2017: $129.375m) at fixed interest rates (via interest rate swaps – refer
note 6.4.1). The facilities are unsecured. The weighted average effective interest rate on the facilities was
3.27% (2017: 2.65%). Further details are provided in note 6.4.
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6.2

Borrowings (continued)

6.2.2

Reconciliation of movement in borrowings

The movement in bank borrowings and finance leases during the year is reconciled as follows:
2018
$000s
Opening balance – start of year
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Exchange rate movements
Closing balance – end of year
6.2.3

2017
$000s

272,666
534,902
(532,988)
9,159

135,093
452,298
(314,000)
(725)

283,739

272,666

Leasing

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the
arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on
the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.
Finance leases – Group as lessee
The Group has sale and lease arrangements related to the financing of the fit outs of leased premises.
Plant and equipment with a carrying value at 30 June 2018 of $22.200m (2017: $24.190m) has been
leased back under these finance arrangements and are held as security. The finance leases expire within
6 years.
2018
2017
$000s
$000s
Commitments in relation to finance leases are payable
as follows:
Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
More than five years
Minimum lease payments

4,112
16,328
4,073
24,513

4,073
16,292
8,146
28,511

Future finance charges

(2,913)

(3,878)

Total finance lease liabilities

21,600

24,633

3,262
14,369
3,969

3,099
13,755
7,779

21,600

24,633

The present value of finance lease liabilities is as follows:
Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
More than five years
Minimum lease payments
Operating leases - Group as lessee

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain premises. These leases have an average life
of between 3 and 12 years with options to renew in some cases. There are no restrictions placed upon
the lessee by entering into these leases.
2018
2017
$000s
$000s
Future minimum rentals payable
Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
More than five years

60,931
201,629
199,106

57,538
193,335
229,489

461,666

480,362
84

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2018
6.3

Capital risk management objectives and policies

When managing capital it is the Company’s objective to maximise the returns to shareholders as
measured by Economic Value Added (EVA®), whilst also ensuring that the entity maintains a balanced
capital structure that provides flexibility for the Company to invest in its business to achieve its strategic
goals.
The Company regularly reviews its capital structure to ensure that the Group takes advantage of
favourable costs of capital. As the market is constantly changing, the Company will: actively review the
amount of dividends to be paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, and
initiate on market share buy backs, and drawdown on/repay bank borrowings to ensure that capital is
managed appropriately.
The Group operates globally, primarily through subsidiary companies established in the markets in which
the Group trades.
The Group’s policy is to borrow centrally, using a variety of currencies, to meet anticipated funding
requirements.
The Company monitors capital through a combination of ratios and metrics with the objective of ensuring
that the Company maintains a strong capital structure across the economic cycle.
The following two key metrics are monitored on a regular basis:
2018

2017

Net Debt to EBITDA* ratio

1.7x

1.5x

Interest cover ratio

18.0x

26.8x

The Company’s target for return on capital employed is a minimum return in excess of the Group’s
weighted average cost of capital (WACC). For 2018, the Group’s WACC was approximately 8% (2017:
8%). Returns on capital employed were 15.3% (2017: 18.2%) excluding the impacts of the C&I Division
rationalisation; well above the Group’s WACC.
* EBITDA = Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortisation, impairments, and non-operating
gains and losses, before C&I Division rationalisation expenses.
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6.4

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise receivables, payables, bank loans, cash and cash
equivalents and derivatives.
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables
are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.
The Group manages its exposure to key financial risks, including interest rate and currency risk in
accordance with the Group's Treasury policy. The objective of the policy is to support the delivery of the
Group's financial targets whilst protecting future financial security.
The Group may enter into derivative transactions, principally interest rate swaps and forward currency
contracts. The purpose is to manage the potential interest rate and currency risks arising from the Group's
operations and its sources of finance. Derivatives, specifically in forward currency contracts, may also be
entered into. These derivatives provide economic hedges, but may not qualify for hedge accounting and
are based on limits approved by the Audit and Risk Committee. There are no economic hedges at 30
June 2018.
The main risks that may arise from the Group's financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group uses different methods to measure and manage different types of risks to which it is exposed.
These include monitoring levels of potential exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange risk and
assessments of market forecasts for interest rate and foreign exchange rates. Where material, ageing
analyses and monitoring of specific credit allowances are undertaken to manage credit risk, liquidity risk
is monitored through the development of future rolling cash flow forecasts and maintenance of appropriate
credit facilities.
The Audit and Risk Committee periodically reviews the policies for managing each of these risks as
summarised below.
Risk exposures and responses
6.4.1

Interest rate risk

At reporting date the Group had the following mix of financial assets and liabilities exposed to interest rate
risk:
Variable interest rate
Fixed interest rate risk
risk
(after interest
rate swaps)
2018
2017
2018
2017
$000s
$000s
$000s
$000s
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

81,871

86,642

-

-

Financial Liabilities
Finance leases
Bank borrowings

119,731

118,658

21,600
142,408

24,633
129,375

Net exposure

(37,860)

(32,016)

(164,008)

(154,008)

The Group’s exposure to market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long term borrowing
obligations with a floating interest rate. The level of debt is disclosed in note 6.2. The Group’s debt facilities
allow borrowings in multiple foreign currencies, accordingly, interest rates on interest-bearing loans of the
Group currently range from 1.0% to 3.6% (2017: 0.6% to 3.0%).
The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed and variable rate debt, and that
between 50% and 75% of core borrowings must be at fixed rates of interest. Core borrowings is defined
as the lowest level of borrowings forecast in the Group’s forward projections.
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6.4

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

In the absence of fixed rate debt the Group’s policy allows for the use of interest rate swaps, collars and
caps. Where the Group enters into fixed rate debt it is understood that this creates a fair value exposure
as a by-product of the Group’s attempt to manage its cash flow volatility arising from interest rate changes.
The Group has entered into interest rate swap contracts, in order to protect against rising interest rates,
under which it has a right to receive interest at variable rates and to pay interest at fixed rates. At 30 June
2018 the value of interest rate swap contracts held was $143.580m (2017: $131.506m).
The following swaps are in place:
• Euro interest swaps at 1.04% maturing in April 2020.
• AUD interest swaps at 2.48% maturing in December 2022.
The interest rate swaps require settlement of net interest receivable or payable each month. The
settlement dates coincide with the dates on which interest is payable on the underlying debt. All swaps
are matched directly against the appropriate loans and interest expense and as such are considered
highly effective. They are settled on a net basis. The swaps are measured at fair value and all gains and
losses attributable to the hedged risk are taken directly to equity and re-classified into profit or loss when
the interest expense is recognised.
During April 2018, the Group entered into a cross currency basis swap over Eur75m of borrowings,
expiring in April 2020. The cross currency basis swap is essentially a funding instrument that reduces the
bank margin that the Group pays on its borrowings and is not a trading instrument and provides a foreign
currency hedge against historic assets acquired in Euros.
The cross currency basis swap involves the conversion of Eur75m borrowings into $117.4m of borrowings
and swapping a Euro interest expense to an AUD interest expense. On maturity in April 2020, the
borrowings of $117.4m will be converted back to borrowings of Eur75m.
The fair values of the interest rate swap contracts and cross currency basis swap contracts are as
follows:
2018
2017
$000s
$000s
Current Liabilities – other payables
Interest rate swap contracts - cash flow hedges
Cross currency basis swap contracts - cash flow hedges

657
1,210

1,045
2,160

1,867

3,205

Interest rate swap contracts are exposed to fair value movements if interest rates change. Under these
contracts the Group is committed to $1.859m (2017: $1.492m) interest expense within 12 months and
$5.024m (2017: $1.055m) interest expense between 1 year and 5 years, on $143.580m (2017:
$131.506m) of notional debt (at rates as per above).
The Group constantly analyses its interest rate exposure. Within this analysis consideration is given to
potential renewals of existing positions, alternative financing, alternative hedging positions and the mix of
fixed and variable interest rates.
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6.4

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Sensitivity analysis
The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposures in existence at the balance
sheet date.
At 30 June 2018, if interest rates had moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held
constant, post tax profit and equity would have been affected as follows:
2018
$000s

2017
$000s

(265)

(224)

Judgements of reasonably possible movements
Post tax profit and equity higher/(lower)
+1% (100 basis points)

The movements in profit and equity are due to a small decrease in interest revenues from variable rate
cash balances and a small increase in interest expenses on variable rate borrowings.
The Company believes the balance date risk exposures are representative of the risk exposure inherent
in the financial instruments.
6.4.2

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign
exchange rates relates primarily to the Group’s operating activities (when revenue or expense is
denominated in different currency from the Group’s presentation currency) “Transactional risk”, and the
Group’s net investments in foreign subsidiaries “Translational risk”.
6.4.2.1 Transactional risk
The Group’s foreign currency risk policy is to only hedge known and committed exposures.
6.4.2.2 Translational risk
The Group’s policy is to hedge its exposure to fluctuations on the translation of its foreign operations by
holding net borrowings in foreign currencies, where the unhedged exposure exceeds $10.0m. This is
currently limited to the Group’s Euro, US Dollar, Canadian Dollar and Singapore Dollar exposures.
6.4.3

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade
and other receivables, other financial assets and derivative instruments. The Group's exposure to credit
risk arises from potential default of the counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amount of these instruments.
Refer to note 5.2 for further details on trade and other receivables.
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Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

6.4.4 Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between the continuity of funding and flexibility through
the use of operating cash flows and committed available credit facilities.
The Group has a series of five year multi-currency bilateral revolving credit facilities for $400m. Of this
facility $100m expires in December 2020 and $300m expires in December 2022. These facilities are split
into two tranches. Tranche A is $320m and wholly consists of credit facilities, whereas Tranche B is $80m
and is primarily for contingent instrument requirements.
A total of $325.277m (2017: $308.164m) had been utilised of the total facility, split between lease rental
and performance guarantees of $63.138m (2017: $60.131m) and borrowings of $262.139m (2017:
$248.033m).
Cash flows from operations for 2018 were $92.301m (2017: $101.534m).
The Group’s policy is that no more than 50% of credit facilities should mature within the following 12
months. At 30 June 2018, none (2017: none) of the Group’s credit facilities will mature within the following
12 months.
Contractual maturities

2018
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other
receivables

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Finance lease liabilities
Bank loans
Cross currency basis swap
Interest rate derivatives

Net maturity

<3
months
$000s

3 months
to a year
$000s

1 – 5 years

>5 years

Total

$000s

$000s

$000s

81,871

-

-

-

81,871

120,183

3,736

-

-

123,919

202,054

3,736

-

-

205,790

12,165
1,028
465

110,254
3,084
1,394

16,328
262,139
1,172
5,024

4,073
-

122,419
24,513
262,139
1,172
6,883

13,658

114,732

284,663

4,073

417,126

188,396

(110,996)

(284,663)

(4,073)

(211,336)

86,642

-

-

-

86,642

137,036

4,018

-

-

141,054

223,678

4,018

-

-

227,696

10,519
1,018
373

108,478
3,055
1,119

16,292
248,033
2,160
1,055

8,146
-

118,997
28,511
248,033
2,160
2,547

11,910

112,652

267,540

8,146

400,248

211,768

(108,634)

(267,540)

(8,146)

(172,552)

2017
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other
receivables

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Finance lease liabilities
Bank loans
Cross currency basis swap
Interest rate derivatives

Net maturity
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Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

The tables above reflect all contractually fixed settlement, repayments, receivables and interest resulting
from recognised financial liabilities and assets, including derivative financial instruments, as of 30 June
2018. For derivative financial instruments the gross cash settlement is presented where gross settlement
occurs and the net cash settlement is presented where net settlement occurs. For the other obligations
the respective undiscounted cash flows for the respective upcoming fiscal years are presented. Cash
flows for financial liabilities are based on the earliest possible date on which the Group can be required to
pay. Cash flows for financial assets are based on the terms and conditions existing at the balance sheet
date.
The Company manages this liquidity risk by the maintenance of appropriate unutilised credit facilities and
continued operation of the business as a going concern generating operating cash flows. Whilst operating
as a going concern, the material business units of the Group receive operating cash flows prior to the
provision of the service. At 30 June 2018, the Group had recognised deferred revenue of $278.502m
(2017: $262.112m), representing cash receipted by the Group for which tuition services had yet to be
provided. The Company has utilised these cash receipts to reduce debt, return capital to shareholders,
and to purchase investments. At 30 June 2018, the Group had $262.139m of bank debt (2017:
$248.033m) and unutilised credit facilities of $74.723m available (2017: $91.836m). The Company is
confident this is sufficient to cover any liquidity risk exposure at 30 June 2018.
6.5

Issued Capital
2018
Shares
Number

Movements in shares on issue
At 1 July
Dividend reinvestment plan (i)
Employee share schemes (ii)
Shares bought back on-market
and cancelled (iii)
At 30 June
(i)

2017
$000s

Shares
Number

$000s

358,272,785
285,627
33,823

110,511
1,312
146

371,559,353
646,576
52,334

177,095
2,941
275

(400,000)

(1,760)

(13,985,478)

(69,800)

358,192,235

110,209

358,272,785

110,511

Dividend reinvestment plan

During the year the Company issued 285,627 (2017: 646,576) shares to a value of $1.312m (2017:
$2.941m) in lieu of cash dividends.
(ii)

Employee share schemes

During the year the Company issued 2,450 (2017: 21,744) shares to executive employees (under the
terms of the Executive Share Plan) to a value of $0.010m (2017: $0.114m) in settlement of obligations
arising from the Company’s ValueShare incentive scheme. These obligations were previously recognised
in the Company’s results for the 2017 and 2016 financial years. In addition, the Company issued 31,373
(2017: 30,590) shares valued at $0.136m (2017: $0.161m) to eligible employees from salaries and wages
as part of the Company’s Employee Share Ownership Plan.
(iii)

Share buy-back

During the financial year the Company completed the on-market buy-back, announced on 2 February
2017, of up to 7.5% of its ordinary shares currently on issue as part of its ongoing capital management
initiatives.
During the year, the Company has purchased and cancelled a total of 400,000 ordinary shares (2017:
13,985,478). The shares were acquired at an average price of $4.40 (2017: $4.99) per share, with prices
ranging from $4.34 to $4.46 (2017: $4.06 to $5.34). The total cost of $1.760m (2017: $69.800m) was
deducted from issued capital.
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7

Other notes

7.1

Related party disclosures

7.1.1 Equity interests in related parties
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Navitas Limited and its controlled
entities. The table below lists the primary operating controlled entities of the Group. Individual controlled
entities that do not provide a significant contribution to the Group’s revenue, profits or net assets have not
been listed. All are owned 100% except as indicated.
Country of incorporation
Name
Australia
ACL Pty Ltd*
Australian Campus Network Pty Limited*
Australian College of English Pty Ltd*
Cadre Design Pty. Limited*
Colleges of Business & Technology (NSW) Pty Ltd*
Colleges of Business and Technology (WA) Pty Ltd*
Cytech Intersearch Pty Limited*
Educational Enterprises Australia Pty. Ltd.*
Educational Services Pty Ltd*
Hawthorn Learning Pty Limited*
Health Skills Australia Pty Ltd*
IBT (Canada) Pty Limited*
IBT (Sydney) Pty Limited*
IBT Education Pty Ltd*
LM Training Specialists Pty. Ltd.*
Melbourne Institute of Business and Technology Pty
Ltd*
Navitas America Pty Ltd*
Navitas Bundoora Pty Ltd*
Navitas College of Health Pty Ltd*
Navitas College of Public Safety Pty Ltd*

Navitas English Pty Limited*
Navitas English Services Pty Limited*
Navitas Global Pty Ltd (previously IBT Finance Pty
Limited)*
Navitas LIS Holdings Pty Ltd*
Navitas Professional Institute Pty Ltd*
Navitas Professional Pty Ltd*
Navitas Professional Training Pty Ltd*
Navitas SAE Holdings Pty Ltd*
Navitas SAE (UK) Holdings Pty Ltd*
Navitas USA Pty Ltd*
Navitas Ventures Pty Ltd*
Newcastle International College Pty Ltd*
Queensland Institute of Business & Technology Pty Ltd*
SAE Institute Pty Limited*
South Australian Institute of Business and Technology Pty
Ltd*
Sydney Institute of Business and Technology Pty Ltd*
The Australian Centre for Languages Pty Ltd*
The Learning Space Pty Ltd*

* indicates member of the closed group
Rest of World
Fraser International College Limited
Curtin Education Centre Pte. Ltd. (90%)

International College of Manitoba Limited
SAE-Institute GmbH

Entities subject to class order relief
Pursuant to ASIC Class Order 2016/785, relief has been granted to certain of the entities which are
indicated above as members of the closed group (“closed group entities”) from the Corporations Act 2001
requirements for preparation, audit and lodgement of their financial reports.
As a condition of the Class Order, Navitas Limited and the closed group entities entered into a Deed of
Cross Guarantee on 15 June 2006, as varied from time to time. The effect of the deed is that Navitas
Limited has guaranteed to pay any deficiency in the event of winding up of any closed group entity. The
closed group entities have also given a similar guarantee in the event that Navitas Limited is wound up.
During the period, no entity has been:
• removed by a revocation deed contemplated by the Deed of Cross Guarantee; or
• the subject of a notice of disposal contemplated by the Deed of Cross Guarantee.
During the period, no entity obtained relief under the Class Order or a previous order at the end of the
immediately preceding financial year but which was ineligible for relief in respect of the relevant financial
period.
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Related party disclosures (continued)

7.1.2

Closed Group Disclosures

The consolidated statement of financial position and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the entities which are members of the “closed group” are as follows:
Consolidated statement of financial position

Closed Group
2018
$000s

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Current tax receivable
Prepayments and other assets

2017
$000s

51,661
82,915
6,751
14,348

48,221
87,502
15,480

Total Current Assets

155,675

151,203

Non Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets
Intangible assets
Other financial assets

112,173
113
320,572
169,510

119,376
16,015
324,677
281,169

Total Non Current Assets

602,368

741,237

Total Assets

758,043

892,440

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Deferred revenue
Current tax payable
Borrowings
Provisions

85,140
139,462
21,816
12,624

90,489
146,292
2,667
26,094
11,344

Total Current Liabilities

259,042

276,886

Non Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Provisions

40,295
280,477
20,049

44,563
269,567
16,142

Total Non Current Liabilities

340,821

330,272

Total Liabilities

599,863

607,158

Net Assets

158,180

285,282

Equity
Issued capital
Reserves
Retained earnings

110,209
(987)
48,958

110,511
(413)
175,184

Total Equity

158,180

285,282

175,184
(56,401)
(69,825)

145,380
100,191
(70,387)

48,958

175,184

Consolidated Retained Earnings
At 1 July
(Loss)/profit attributable to members of the closed group
Dividends
At 30 June
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7.1

Related party disclosures (continued)

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Closed Group
2018
2017
$000s
$000s
Revenue

573,152

613,096

(93,329)
(132,584)
(362,745)
(11,095)

(92,694)
(140,261)
(242,453)
(8,696)

(Loss)/profit before income tax
expense

(26,601)

128,992

Income tax expense

(29,800)

(28,801)

(Loss)/profit for the year

(56,401)

100,191

952
388
(401)

193
1,831
(549)

939

1,475

(55,462)

101,666

Marketing expenses
Academic expenses
Administration expenses
Finance costs

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Currency translation movements
Fair value movements in hedge instruments
Income tax relating to other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year
7.1.3 Transactions with other related parties
Transactions between the Group and its related parties

During the financial year, the following transactions occurred between the Group and its other related
parties:


Hoperidge Advisors Pty Ltd, an entity associated with Mr Rod Jones, is a sub tenant in one of
the Group’s rented properties. Navitas has recorded income of $71,774 (2017: $67,144) in
relation to this contract. This contract is on normal terms and conditions.



Greenridge Electrical Pty Ltd, an entity associated with Mr Rod Jones, was a sub tenant in one
of the Group’s rented properties in the prior year. Navitas has recorded income of $nil (2017:
$26,118) in relation to this contract. This contract was on normal terms and conditions.



Navitas Limited has provided an unsecured loan to Western Sydney University International
College Pty Ltd, a joint venture company, of $2,350,000 (2017: $1,300,000). Interest is payable
on the loan at a rate of the RBS cash rate plus a margin of 3% and is payable quarterly in arrears.
During the year, Navitas Limited has charged interest income of $91,874 (2017: $49,202) on the
loan and an amount of $26,365 (2017: $14,655) is outstanding at 30 June 2018. The loan is
outstanding at 30 June 2018 and has no set repayment terms.



Navitas Limited has charged service fees of $525,934 (2017: $454,683) and provided marketing,
staff and other services totaling $84,820 (2017: $56,174) to Western Sydney University
International College Pty Ltd, a joint venture company, during the year. At 30 June 2018, an
amount of $71,130 (2017: $52,208) is outstanding.
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Related party disclosures (continued)


Navitas Limited has charged service fees of $1,114,016 (2017: $877,545) and provided
marketing, staff and other services totaling $36,407 (2017: $285,919) to University of Canberra
College Pty Limited, a joint venture company, during the year. At 30 June 2018, an amount of
$460,413 (2017: $563,268) is outstanding.



University of Canberra College Pty Limited has provided marketing, staff and other services
totaling $11,413 (2017: $119,238) to Navitas Limited and related entities during the year. At 30
June 2018, an amount of $8,837 (2017: $23,820) is outstanding.



Navitas Limited has charged service fees of $1,489,090 (2017: $1,407,655) and provided staff
and other services totaling $4,768 (2017: $134,385) to Edith Cowan College Pty Ltd, a joint
venture company, during the year. At 30 June 2018, an amount of $614,354 (2017: $243,368) is
outstanding.



Edith Cowan College Pty Ltd has charged royalty fees to a subsidiary of Navitas Limited totaling
$931,304 (2017: $495,730) and has recharged staff costs totaling $34,864 (2017: $124,093)
during the year. At 30 June 2018, an amount of $944,421 (2017: $523,650) is outstanding.



International College Wales Ltd has provided an unsecured loan to The College, Swansea
University, a joint venture company, of £300,000. Interest is payable on the loan at a rate of the
three month LIBOR rate plus a margin of 1% and is payable monthly in arrears. During the year,
Navitas Limited has charged interest income of £545 (A$966) on the loan and an amount of £545
(A$966) is outstanding at 30 June 2018. The loan is outstanding at 30 June 2018 and has no set
repayment terms.

Apart from the above, there were no balances, arising from transactions between the Group and its other
related parties, outstanding at reporting date.
All amounts advanced to or repayable to related parties are unsecured and are subordinate to other
liabilities. The amounts outstanding will be settled in cash.
7.1.4 Transactions with Key Management Personnel
A list of key management personnel is provided in the remuneration report on page 38. Aggregate
compensation and shareholdings are provided on pages 46 to 52.
7.2

Parent Entity Disclosures

Financial Information

Parent
2018
$000s

2017
$000s

Current Assets

206,622

130,144

Total Assets

724,742

769,625

Current Liabilities

402,134

332,221

Total Liabilities

695,935

611,113

Shareholders Equity
Issued capital
Reserves
(Accumulated losses) / retained earnings

110,210
(1,307)
(80,096)

110,511
(2,244)
50,245

28,807

158,512

(60,615)

78,025

Total Equity
(Loss) / profit for the year
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7.3

Auditor’s remuneration

The auditor of Navitas Limited is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

Audit services
Auditor of the Company
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (Australia)
Audit and review of financial reports
Other regulatory audit services
Overseas Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu firms
Audit and review of financial reports
Other regulatory audit services

Other services
Auditor of the Company
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (Australia)
Other – tax services
Other – consulting services
Overseas Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu firms
Other – consulting services

8

Unrecognised Items

8.1

Guarantees

2018
$

2017
$

421,950
20,238

404,549
19,200

659,188
13,112

625,027
12,604

1,114,488

1,061,380

-

50,000

-

3,500

-

53,500

1,114,488

1,114,880

The Group has entered into rental guarantees over leased properties used by the Group with a face value
of $25.558m (2017: $26.456m) and performance guarantees with a face value of $83.974m (2017:
$81.089m). The fair value of the guarantees has been assessed as $nil based on underlying performance
of the entities subject to the guarantees.
Cross guarantees between entities in the closed group (see note 7.1.1) have been provided by Navitas
Limited and its controlled entities. The fair value of the cross guarantees has been assessed as $nil based
on the underlying performance of the entities in the closed group.
9

Events after balance sheet date

Subsequent to balance sheet date, the directors of the Company declared a final dividend on ordinary
shares in respect of the 2018 financial year. The total amount of dividend is $28.655m, which represents
a partially franked dividend of 8.0 cents per share. The dividend has not been provided for in the 30 June
2018 financial statements.
Subsequent to balance sheet date, the Group completed a detailed portfolio review of the Careers and
Industry Division, and announced it will undertake a rationalisation program to improve efficiency and
create a solid foundation for sustainable future growth for the Division – refer to note 3.
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Changes in the Group’s Structure

Financial Year Ended 30 June 2018
(a) Acquisition of additional interest in Australian School of Applied Management
During the year Navitas acquired an additional 60% interest in Australian School of Applied
Management (‘ASAM’) for $7.295m, increasing the Group’s ownership interest in ASAM to 90%. As a
result, ASAM is now a controlled entity and is now consolidated by Navitas.
Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets acquired and the goodwill are as follows:
$000s
Purchase consideration
Cash paid for acquiring additional 60% equity interest
Previously held 30% equity interest at assessed fair value
Total purchase consideration

7,295
3,206
10,501

The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are as follows:
Fair value
$000s
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other assets
Property, plant and equipment
Trade and other payables
Deferred revenue
Income tax payable
Provisions

427
1,393
341
46
(975)
(3,509)
(186)
(256)

Net identifiable liabilities acquired
Add: non-controlling interests
Add: goodwill

(2,719)
295
12,925

Net assets acquired

10,501

As a consequence of the acquisition and ASAM becoming a controlled entity of Navitas, the Group
recorded a non-cash gain of $1.211m on the revaluation of its pre-existing 30% shareholding in ASAM.
(b) Acquisition of Christchurch College of English Limited
In December 2017, Navitas acquired 100% of Christchurch College of English Limited (‘CCEL’) for total
consideration of NZ$5.863m (A$5.365m). CCEL is an on-campus English language provider with
colleges in Christchurch and Auckland, New Zealand.
(c) Conversion of International College Wales Limited into a joint venture
During the year, Navitas entered into an agreement with Swansea University to create a jointly owned
and controlled, joint venture entity known as “The College, Swansea University” to take over the
pathway education operations that were being delivered by Navitas Limited’s wholly owned subsidiary
International College Wales Limited (‘ICWS’) on behalf of Swansea University.
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Changes in the Group’s Structure (continued)

(c) Conversion of International College Wales Limited into a joint venture (continued)
Under the transition arrangements of the agreement, ICWS will teach out existing students recruited prior
to the creation of The College, Swansea University on 1 March 2018. New students recruited after this
date will be recruited and taught by The College, Swansea University.
As a result of this transaction, Navitas Limited has recognised a non-cash gain of $2.817m on the transfer
of ICWS’ business into the new joint venture.
(d) Disposal of SAE Institute South Africa Proprietary Limited
In March 2018, Navitas completed the sale of SAE Institute South Africa Proprietary Limited (‘SAE South
Africa’) for consideration of ZAR30.488m (A$3.324m). Navitas Limited has recognised a gain on sale of
SAE South Africa of $0.916m.

The above transactions have not had a significant impact on the Group’s assets, liabilities, revenue and
expenses.
In total $4.944m of non operating gains were recognised at 30 June 2018, comprising:
$000s
Non cash gain on conversion of ASAM (an equity accounted investment) into a
controlled etnity (note 10(a))
Non cash gain on conversion of ICWS into a joint venture (note 10(c))
Gain on disposal of SAE South Africa (note 10(d))

1,211
2,817
916
4,944

Financial Year Ended 30 June 2017
(a) Conversion of Perth Institute of Business and Technology Pty Ltd into a joint venture
In accordance with an agreement between Edith Cowan University (‘University’) and Perth Institute of
Business and Technology Pty Ltd (‘PIBT’), the University agreed to subscribe for shares in PIBT in
consideration for the University entering into a continuing IP Licence and Services Agreement with PIBT.
The agreement has resulted in the conversion of PIBT from being a wholly owned subsidiary of Navitas
Limited into a joint venture, jointly controlled and owned by Navitas Limited and the University, with effect
from 1 October 2016.
As a result of this transaction, Navitas Limited has deconsolidated PIBT and subsequently recognised an
investment in 50% of PIBT at fair value at the date of disposal. This investment will subsequently be
accounted for using the equity method. Navitas Limited has recognised a non-cash gain of $17.263m on
this transaction.
On 4 October 2016, PIBT changed its name to Edith Cowan College Pty Ltd.
(b) Disposal of Indian Student recruitment business and related legal entities
During the year ended 30 June 2017, the Group agreed to dispose of its Indian student recruitment
business (referred to as Study Overseas Global) and related legal entities for consideration of $0.2 million.
The Group has recorded a loss on disposal of $3.0 million.
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Directors’ declaration
In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Navitas Limited, I state that:
1. In the opinion of the Directors:
(a)

the financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i)

giving a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2018 and the
performance for the year ended on that date of the consolidated entity; and

(ii)

complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations
2001;

(b)

the attached financial statements are in compliance with International Financial Reporting
Standards, as stated in note 1.1 to the financial statements; and

(c)

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pays its debts as and
when they become due and payable.

2. This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors
in accordance with sections 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June
2018.
3. In the opinion of the Directors, as at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to
believe that the members of the Closed Group identified in note 7.1.1 to the financial statements will,
as a group, be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become subject, by
virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee.

On behalf of the Board

D Buckingham
Group Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director
Perth, Western Australia, 6 August 2018
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of
Navitas Limited
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report
Opinion
We have audited the financial report of Navitas Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and
the directors’ declaration.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, including:
(i)

giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of its
financial performance for the year then ended; and

(ii)

complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have
also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has
been given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as
at the time of this auditor’s report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance
in our audit of the financial report for the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Key audit matter

How the scope of our audit responded to
the Key Audit Matter

Carrying value of non-current assets in
the SAE business
Refer notes 5.1 and 5.3
The carrying value of goodwill, other
intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment as at 30 June 2018 was $541
million, including $313 million relating to
SAE.
The Group prepared a value in use model to
assess the recoverable value of SAE. The
preparation of a value in use model requires
management to exercise significant
judgement, with key assumptions including
discount rate, growth and operating margins.

Our procedures included, but was not limited
to, the following procedures:
 Understanding the process that
management undertakes to develop the
model,
 Comparing the forecasts to Board
approved business plans,
 Assessing historical forecasting accuracy
by comparing actual performance to
budgets,
 In conjunction with our valuation
specialists, challenging the assumptions as
follows:
o assessing the discount rate against
that of comparable companies;
o evaluating operating margins with
reference to past performance and
knowledge of the business;
o challenging the forecast growth
against historic growth rates and
external industry data where
available; and
o challenging the maintenance
capital expenditure assumptions.
 Sample testing management’s models for
mathematical accuracy,
 Performing sensitivity analysis on the
growth and operating margins
assumptions, and
 Assessing the appropriateness of the
related disclosures to the financial
statements.

Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s
report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:


Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.



Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.



Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.



Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.



Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
Report on the Remuneration Report
Opinion on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 34 to 52 of the directors’ report for the
year ended 30 June 2018.
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Navitas Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2018,
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.
Responsibilities
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Leanne Karamfiles
Partner
Chartered Accountants
Perth, 6 August 2018

Glossary
ACAP

Australian College of Applied Psychology

AMEP

Adult Migrant English Program

ASIC

Australian Securities and Investments Commission

ASQA

Australian Skills Quality Authority

ASAM

Australian School of Applied Management

ASX

ASX Limited

ASX Listing Rules

The official listing rules of the ASX

BCUIC

Birmingham City University International College

Board

The board of directors of Navitas

Capex

Capital expenditure

CCEL

Christchurch College of English Language

C&I

Careers and Industry Division

Constitution

The constitution of the Company

Corporations Act

Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)

CPS

Cents per share

CRIC

Cambridge Ruskin International College Limited

CRICOS

Commonwealth Register of Institutions and Courses for Overseas
Students

Curtin College

Colleges of Business and Technology Pty Ltd trading as Curtin
College

Curtin Singapore

Curtin University Singapore Campus

Deakin College

Melbourne Institute of Business and Technology Pty Ltd trading as
Deakin College

DIBP

Department of Immigration and Border Protection

Directors

Directors of Navitas

DoET

Department of Education and Training

EBITDA

Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, amortisation and
impairments

ECC

Edith Cowan College

EFS

English and Foundation Skills

ELICOS

English Language Intensive Courses for Overseas Students

EPS

Earnings per share

EVA®

Economic Value Added®

Eynesbury

Educational Enterprises Australia Pty Ltd trading as Eynesbury
International

FAU

Navitas at Florida Atlantic University

FEE-HELP

A government loan scheme to help eligible non-Commonwealth
supported (fee paying) students pay their tuition fees

FIC

Fraser International College
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Glossary (continued)
FY18

Financial year 2018

FX

Foreign exchange

Group or Navitas Group

Navitas and its subsidiary companies

Griffith College

Queensland Institute of Business & Technology Pty Ltd trading as
Griffith College

Hawthorn-Melbourne

Hawthorn Learning Pty Ltd trading as Hawthorn-Melbourne

HIC

HIBT Limited trading as Hertfordshire International College

HSA

Health Skills Australia Pty Ltd

ICM

International College of Manitoba

ICP

International College Portsmouth Limited

ICRGU

International College Robert Gordon University

ICWS

International College Wales Limited

KPI

Key Performance Indicator

LBIC

London IBT Limited trading as LBIC

LTM

La Trobe Melbourne

LTUSC

La Trobe University Sydney Campus

Navitas or Company

Navitas Limited ABN 69 109 613 309

Navitas at UNH

Navitas at the University of New Hampshire

NV

Navitas Ventures

NCPS

Navitas College of Public Safety Pty Ltd

NPAT

Net profit after tax

NQF

National Qualifications Framework

pcp

prior comparative period

PDIC

Plymouth Devon International College Limited

PEP

Professional and English Programs

RTO

Registered training organisation

SAE

School of Audio Engineering, now known as SAE

SAIBT

South Australian Institute of Business and Technology

Shareholder

A holder of a Share

Shares

Fully paid ordinary shares in the capital of the Company

SIBT

Sydney Institute of Business and Technology Pty Ltd

SOL

Study Overseas Limited

SPP

Special Preparatory Program

SSVF

Simplified Student Visa Framework

StudyLink

Learning Information Systems Pty Ltd trading as StudyLink

TEQSA

Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency

TESOL

Teachers of English to Speakers of Other Languages
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Glossary (continued)
TVP

Target variable pay

UCC

University of Canberra College

UCIC

UC International College

UMass Boston

Navitas at University of Massachusetts Boston

UMass Dartmouth

Navitas at University of Massachusetts Dartmouth

UMass Lowell

Navitas at University of Massachusetts Lowell

UNIC

University of Northampton International College

UKBA

UK Border Agency

UPD

University Partnerships Division

VET

Vocational education and training

VSL

VET Student Loans

WACC

Weighted average cost of capital

WSUIC

Western Sydney University International College
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